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MISSION
To	be	a	world-class	environmentally	friendly
renewable	energy	power	company	that
services	the	region’s	energy	needs	with
the	highest	standards	of	safety	and	efficiency	

致力于成为世界级的环保可再生能源公司
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CORPORATE PROFILE

Asia Power is principally involved in the ownership, management and 
operation of power plants in China. It was incorporated in Singapore in 
March 1997 and later converted to a public company in October 1999. 

Heilongjiang Asiapower Xinbao Heating & Power Co., Ltd (“Xinbao”) 
Xinbao was incorporated in Qiqihar City, Heilongjiang Province, China 
in May 1998 with a registered capital of RMB116m. After a capital 
enlargement exercise in February 2002, total registered capital of Xinbao 
had gone up by RMB10m to RMB126m. Xinbao is now 51% owned 
by Asia Power Corporation Limited and 49% owned by Qiqihar Xinbao 
Heating & Power Co., Ltd.

Xinbao operates a coal-fired combined heat-and-power plant in Qiqihar 
City, Heilongjiang Province. The plant has a total installed capacity of 225 
MW, comprising 9 generating units at 25 MW each along with 8 coal fired 
boilers. Among these generating units, Xinbao directly owns unit 1-6 and 
9, while unit 7 & 8 are under lease agreements.

Xinbao is the only co-generation power plant in Fularji District, Qiqihar 
City. It produces both heat and steam in addition to electricity generation. 
The production of heat and steam is in line with the government’s policy 
of environmental protection in the production of energy. The heat and 
steam made available to industrial and residential users by Xinbao help 
to save energy and produce fewer pollutants in Qiqihar City.

Asia Power (Neijiang) Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd (“Neijiang”) 
Neijiang was incorporated in Neijiang City, Sichuan Province, China in 
February 1998 with a registered capital of USD5m. The company was 
then a wholly-owned subsidiary of Asia Power. 

In September 2002, Asia Power disposed of 40% equity interest in 
Neijiang to Neijiang Xingyuan Electric Power Co., Ltd (“Neijiang Xinyuan”). 
As a result, the company is now 60% owned by Asia Power and 40% 
owned by Neijiang Xinyuan. 

Neijiang owns and operates a 13.5 MW hydropower station in Zizhong 
County, Neijiang City, Sichuan Province. The hydropower station was 
commissioned in January 1991, and it comprises 3 generating units with 
an installed capacity of 4.5 MW each. Neijiang has invested RMB15m in 
exchange for a 35% stake in Sichuan Anning River Energy Development 
Co., Ltd.

Sichuan Anning River Energy Development Co., Ltd (“Anning River”) 
Anning River was incorporated in July 2002 with a registered capital of 
RMB50m. The company is 35% owned by Neijiang. Asia Power’s effective 
interest in Anning River is 51%. 

Anning River has undertaken to build hydropower stations along Anning 
River. The Sankeshu hydropower station operates at a total installed 
capacity of 52 MW (2 generating units at 26 MW each) and has 
commenced operation in January 2005. 

Changzhou Suyuan Electric Power Co., Ltd (“Changzhou Suyuan”) 
Changzhou Suyuan (formerly known as Changzhou Changya Electric 
Power Co., Ltd) was incorporated in Changzhou City, Jiangsu Province, 
China in March 1999 with a registered capital of RMB43.125m. The 
company was then 48% owned by Asia Power and 52% owned by 
Changzhou Changxin Electric Power Co., Ltd.

With effect  from January 2001, the company had gone through a 
restructuring and capital enlargement exercise whereby total registered 
capital of Changzhou Suyuan went up to RMB99.36m. The company is 
now 25% owned by Asia Power, 22% owned by Changzhou Changxin 
Electric Power Co., Ltd, 18% owned by Jiangsu Electric Power 
Development Co., 18% by Yangzhou Guangyuan Industrial Co., Ltd, and 
17% owned by China Huadian Group Co., Ltd. 

Changzhou Suyuan owns and operates one peaking power plants in 
Jiangsu Province. The highly efficient 51 MW combined-cycle peaking 
power plant is located in Changzhou City. This Changzhou plant has a gas 
turbine generating set of 36 MW and a steam turbine generating set of 
15 MW. This plant started electricity generation in 1996. 

Changzhou Huayuan Electric Power Co., Ltd (“Changzhou Huayuan”)
Changzhou Huayuan has a registered capital of RMB66m. Pursuant to the 
investment agreement, Asia Power has invested RMB16.5m to acquire 
a 25% interest in this new company. The remaining 75% are invested 
by Changzhou Changxin Electric Power (22%), Jiangsu Electric  Power 
Development Co., Ltd (18%), Yangzhou Suyuan Group Co., Ltd (18%) and 
China Huadian Group Co., Ltd (17%).

The 59.6 MW peaking plant, located on the site adjacent to the existing 
Changzhou plant under Changzhou Suyuan in Changzhou City, Jiangsu 
Province, comprises a gas turbine generating set of 39.6 MW and a 
steam turbine set of 20 MW. 

The construction of the plant is nearly completed, and both generating 
sets went into production before the end of 2003. 
 
Chongqing Yujiankou Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd (“Chongqing Yujiankou”) 
Chongqing Yujiankou, a hydropower plant located in the city of 
Chongqing, has a total installed capacity of 60MW. The construction has 
been completed and it has commenced operation in October 2004. Asia 
Power, which made the acquisition in August 2005, has 31.6% equity 
interest in Chongqing Yujiankou through its subsidiary. 

Asia Power (Leibo) Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd (“Leibo”)
Leibo was incorporated in March 2006 with the Group holding an equity 
interest of 40.05%. The principal activities of Leibo are mainly to develop 
and operate hydropower electricity generation plants with 40 MW 
installation capacity in Leibo Country Sichuan, PRC.

Asia Power (Yunxian) Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd (“Yunxian”)
The Group incorporated Yunxian as a subsidiary in June 2006. Currently, 
the Group holds effective equity stake of 94%. Located in the Yunnan 
Province, Yunxian undertakes the development of Baishui hydropower 
electricity generation plant and Wanqiao hydropower electricity generation 
plant along Nayu River in Yunan with a total installation capacity of 19.5 
MW.

JAZ Technology Developement (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (“JAZ Technology”) 
The Group acquired 60% of subsidiary JAZ Technology in June 2006, 
through Rich Bvild Investment Limited, at a cost of RMB 42 million. JAZ 
Technology has a registered capital of USD 1.23 million. The principal 
activities of JAZ Technology are in the research, development and 
manufacture of power measurement systems and instruments.     
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亚洲电力集团

集团的核心业务是对中国电厂进行收购,管理和运营。集

团现已在中国投资了八家电厂,一家电力高科技企业和两

家电力项目咨询与管理公司。

黑龙江亚电鑫宝热电有限公司  (“鑫宝”)

鑫宝是亚洲电力属下最大的子公司。它拥有一座燃煤型

高温,高压热电厂,总装机容量为225兆瓦。鑫宝电厂也是

黑龙江省齐齐哈尔 市唯一的一家热电联产企业。除了向

省网供电以外,鑫宝电厂也直接向邻近地区的工厂和居民

供热。该电厂自1998年5月被亚洲电力收购以来,已成为

对集团效益贡献最大的企业之一。

亚洲电力(内江)水电有限公司  (“内江”)

内江拥有一座位于四川省内江市沱江流域的径流式水电

站,总装机容量为13.5兆瓦。通过对外投资,内江在四川安

宁河能源开发有限公司持有35%的股份。四川安宁河能

源开发有限公司是一座总装机容量为52兆瓦的水电站。

四川安宁河能源开发有限公司 (“安宁河”)

安宁河的主要目的是开发位于四川省安宁河流域的水电

站。首期开发建设装机容量为52兆瓦的三棵树电站,该电

站已于2005年1月投产发电。亚洲电力目前持有安宁河

51%的股份。

常州苏源发电有限公司 (“常州苏源”)

常州苏源在江苏省拥有一个调峰电厂,总装机容量为99兆

瓦。亚洲电力于1999年3月收购了装机容量为51兆瓦的常

州调峰电厂。亚洲电力目前是常州苏源最大的股东,持有

其25%的股份。 

常州华源发电有限公司  (“常州华源”)

常州华源主要致力于在江苏省常州市兴建和运营一座

联合循环调峰电厂。该电厂装机容量为59.6兆瓦,已于

2003年底建成投产。亚洲电力是常州华源的最大股东,持

有其25%的股份。

重庆鱼剑口水电有限公司 (“重庆鱼剑口”)

重庆鱼剑口位于重庆市。总装机容量为60兆瓦。该电站

已于2004年10月投产发电。亚洲电力,通过属下子公司,在

2005年八月收购了重庆鱼剑口31.6%的股份。

亚洲电力（雷波）水力发电有限公司 (“雷波”)

雷波于2006年3月设立，亚洲电力持有其40.05%的股

权。雷波主要以开发位于四川省雷波县互助水电站为

主，其总装机量为40兆瓦。

亚洲电力（云县）水力发电有限公司 (“云县”)

云县于2006年6月成为亚洲电力的子公司，亚洲电力

持有其94%的股份。云县位于云南省,其主要以开发位

于云南省云县拿鱼河流域的白水水电站和瓦桥水电站

为主。该电站总装机容量为19.5兆瓦。

甲子科技发展(深圳)有限公司 (“甲子科技”)

集团在2006年6月以4200万人民币, 通过丰创投资有限公

司, 收购了其子公司甲子科技60%的股权。甲子科技致力

于研发和生产电力计量系统和设备。
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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Revenue
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Growing with 
Renewable Energy
Developing	our	hydropower	generation
capabilities	further	empowers	us	to	grow	
by	providing	environmentally	friendly	and
renewable	energy
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CHAIRMAN AND CEO’s STATEMENT

Steady Growth in Performance

For the year ended 31 December 2007, our Group performed 
pleasantly with a commendable top line of S$129.8 million. This 
outstanding performance outshined the previous year’s revenue 
of S$120.8 million by approximately 7.5%. Without a doubt, this 
achievement was made possible with a dedicated and committed 
management team that is well supported by an encouraging Board 
of Directors. 

Net profit attributable to shareholders stood at S$12.3 million in 
FY2007. Disregarding the extraordinary one time gain in other 
income in FY2006, the Group’s net profit attributable to shareholders 
increased by 23.9% in FY2007.

Steady growth in FY2007 reflects stability within the Group’s 
operations. With a gradual consolidation of our power plants, We 
are positive that our energy business is well geared towards greater 
expansion into the renewable energy arena.

Looking Back

In FY2007, the Group maintained our focus on developing clean, 
environmentally friendly renewable energy and constantly kept a 
sharp lookout for opportunities in expanding our renewable energy 
business.

The past year witnessed the implementation of a new management 
system that improved both safety and efficiency levels of operations 
in our energy business. This new management system proved to be 
a success as the Group’s subsidiary, Asia Power (Neijiang) Hydro 
Electricity Co., Ltd incurred lower operational and management costs 
while maintaining the same level of efficiency.

Various measures were introduced in FY2007 to hasten the period 
from approval to construction of hydropower objects. The Group’s 
subsidiary, Asia Power (Leibo) Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd clearly 
benefited from these measures as it completed all necessary approval 
to construction processes in the past year.  

During the year under review, Heilongjiang Asia Power Xinbao Heating 
& Power Co., Ltd ventured into the construction of a 300 MW heat 
driven electricity generator, which will allow the Group to achieve 
higher economies of scale. This project is currently awaiting approval 
from relevant government parties.

Continuing our strategy on research and development, the Group 
also intensified our research efforts in renewable energy sources 
throughout the year ended 31 December 2007.

Beginning FY08, the Group placed out 40,000,000 new shares at 
a price of S$0.33 per ordinary share to Renewable Energy Holdings 
Pte Ltd (“REH”). REH is an investment holding company and is a 
subsidiary of Catalist-listed China EnerSave Limited, a renewable 
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Steady growth in FY2007 reflects stability within the Group’s 

operations. With a gradual consolidation of our power plants, 

We are positive that our energy business is well geared towards 

greater expansion into the renewable energy arena.
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$129,836

Revenue ($’000) 
2007

energy service provider that is committed to developing clean and 
carbon-neutral power sources for future energy needs. 

Through this exercise, the Group successfully raised net proceeds of 
approximately S$13.2 million after deducting expenses incurred for 
the share placement exercise. 

Through utilisation of the net proceeds, the Group will be able to 
increase the paid up capital of the Group’s subsidiary, Asia Power 
(Leibo) Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd and also acquire shares from the 
existing shareholders of Leibo.

Outlook For Year Ahead

We believe electrical demand will intensify to immense levels. This 
coupled with China’s growing affluence and the setting up of more 
factories will create an upturn in demand for energy, which spells 
good news for the Group’s business.

Furthermore, China has openly demonstrated its support towards 
development of renewable energy. Factoring in the growing affluence 
of China, these put the Group’s “clean, environmentally-friendly 
renewable energy” business in good stead for the year ahead.

On the contrary, with issues of inflation and the possibility of an 
overheated China economy in the future, many opportunities may also 
be potholes that can cause potential upsets if unheeded.

With an experienced management team leading our energy business, 
we are confident that they will be able to provide us with the right 
guidance and once again, allow the Group to ride upon this energy 
and propel us further ahead.

Rewarding Our Shareholders

As an act of appreciation to our shareholders for their unwavering 
support all this while, the Board of Directors has proposed a final tax-
exempt dividend of SG 1.1 cents per ordinary share for FY2007.

Appreciation and Acknowledgement

On behalf of the Board of Directors, We would like to take this 
opportunity to thank our shareholders, management team, business 
associates and our valued customers for their dedication, support 
and contributions made to the Group. Not forgetting, our committed 
and loyal employees whose diligence and dedication have not gone 
unnoticed. We thank all of you for your efforts in making FY2007 into 
another successful year for Asia Power.

We look forward to your continued support and together; we will 
continue to strive harder to propel Asia Power to greater heights for 
the year to come.

Addyson Xue             Sha Guangwen
Chairman                Chief Executive Officer
15 March 2008
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主席及首席执行官致辞

业绩稳步增长

2007年，亚电集团在董事局的正确领导下、通过全体

员工的共同努力，又一次取得了良好的经济效益。

2007年，亚电集团实现销售收入12,983万新加坡元，比

去年全年增长7.08%；实现净利润1,227万新加坡元，比

上年同期（扣除一次性收益）增长23.9%，主营业务利

润又一次创造了历史性的新高。当前，亚电集团在原

有电厂稳定收益的基础上，继续全力推进发展新的环

保可再生能源项目。

工作回顾：

1、2007年，亚电集团继续立足于“清洁、环保可再生

能源”的投资发展战略，积极寻求和洽谈了多个水力

和风力发电项目，为集团在环保可再生能源领域的扩

张提供了充足的项目储备；

2、2007年，亚电集团开始建立和完善对下属各子公

司的生产安全运行管理体系和效益目标管理体系，其

中，内江水电有限公司作为试点，已经开始推行水电

站的标准化管理模式，从而在规范公司水电站管理的

同时进一步降低公司的运行管理费用；

3、2007年，亚电集团积极稳妥地推进新建水电项目的

各项审批和建设工作，雷波水电项目，目前已经完成

了水电站流域规划的环评和预可研的评审工作；

4、2007年，亚电集团协同其下属最大的子公司亚电

鑫宝热电有限公司积极推进该公司“上大压小”的工

作，拟在其原厂址改扩建一台300MW热电联产机组并

保持亚电集团持股比例不降低，该项目已经完成了方

案的初步设计和初可研工作，项目已开始逐级报国家

有关部门审批；

5、2007年，根据亚电集团进一步向新能源领域、资源

类项目领域延伸的战略安排，亚电集团还进行了多个

资源类产业项目的调研和论证工作，为公司未来的产

业拓展提供了相应的准备。

6、2008年1月，亚电集团还以0.33新加坡元/股的价格

向可再生能源控股公司定向发行了4,000万股新股，亚

电集团通过本次增发取得大约1,320万新加坡元的现

金，将用来收购和增持亚洲电力（雷波）水电有限公

司的股权。
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在原有电厂稳定收益的基础上，

继续全力推进发展新的环保可再生能源项目。
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$129,836

($’000)

2007
营业额

年度展望

得益于亚电集团“清洁、环保可再生能源”的产业定

位、得益于世界特别是中国大力支持和发展“可再生

能源”的政策导向，得益于中国经济的持续发展，亚

电集团将进一步开拓创新、锐意进取，我们有理由相

信，亚电集团能够在2007年良好经营业绩的基础上，

再创新一年的辉煌。

回馈股东

 

我们秉承回馈股东的一贯宗旨，尽最大努力满足投资

者之期望，集团董事局提议派发每股新币1.1分的免税

股息。

致谢

在此，我们代表亚电集团董事局，感谢一直以来给予

我们理解和支持的股东，感谢一直以来全力以赴工作

的亚电集团总部、下属各子公司、各联营公司的经营

管理层和全体员工。我们相信，在公司股东的大力支

持下，亚电集团全体员工能够上下齐心、顽强拼搏，

通过不懈的努力，充分承担起对社会、对股东的责

任，能够圆满的完成年初制定的各项经营目标，并为

公司未来的长久、持续发展打下良好的基础。

Addyson Xue  沙广文

董事局主席  首席执行官

2008年3月15日
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Providing energy for the future with 
power plants in key locations
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Sankeshu Hydropower Station
Location: Anning River, Sichuan Province
Total installed capacity: 52 MW
2 generating units of 26 MW each

Baishui Hydropower Plant & Wanqiao  Hydropower Plant
Location: Yunnan Province
Total installed capacity: 19.5 MW
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Neijiang Hydropower Station
Location: Zizhong County, Neijiang City,
Sichuan Province
Total installed capacity: 13.5 MW
3 generating units of 4.5 MW each

Changzhou Suyuan Peaking Power Plants 
Location: Changzhou City, Jiangsu Province
Total installed capacity: 51 MW combine cycle
peaking power plant
Gas turbine generating set of 36 MW and steam turbine
generating set of 15 MV

Xinbao Coal-Fired Combined Heat-and-Power Plant
Location: Qiqihar City, Heilongjiang Province
Total installed capacity: 225 MW
9 generating units of 25 MW each
8 coal-fired boilers

Chongqing Yujiankou Hydropower Plant
Location: Chongqing, Sichuan Province 
Total installed capacity: 60 MW

Leibo Hydropower Plant
Location: Leibo County, Sichuan Province
Total installed capacity: 40 MV

Changzhou Huayuan Peaking Plant
Location: Changzhou City, Jiangsu Province
Total installed capacity: 59.6 MW
Gas turbine generating set of 39.6 MW
Steam turbine set of 20 MW
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Introduction

While FY2006 is a year noted for its expansion accomplishments, 
FY2007 is one highlighted by consolidations and rein-ins in 
operations and management of the previous year’s acquisitions. 
The fruits from last year’s efforts were evident with record-breaking 
revenue and China’s inclination toward clean renewable energy for 
the future ahead.

Financial Performance

During the year under review, the Group demonstrated a remarkable 
consistency in its revenue growth as the closure of FY2007 witnessed 
a revenue increment of S$9.0 million to S$129.8 million, compared 
to S$120.8 million from the previous corresponding year. 

Gross profit also improved by 15.0% to S$33.0 million in FY2007. For 
FY2006, net profit for the year continued to be in the pink of health 
with a moderate figure at S$21.0 million. However, when compared 
against FY2007’s net profit of S$31.8 million, FY2006’s net profit did 
not reflect the same optimism as revenue growth. 

This boils down to the disposal of Shenzhen NARI Technologies Co., 
Ltd and another associate, which contributed S$10.0 million to the 
Group’s profit in FY2006.

As a matter of fact, disregarding this extraordinary gain of S$10.0 
million in FY2006, the Group achieved a net profit attributable to 
shareholders growth of 23.9% in FY2007 compared to the same 
period last year.

Administrative expenses increased by S$4.4 million from S$7.9 
million in FY2006 to S$12.3 million in FY2007. This is mainly due 
to the financial consolidation of JAZ Technology and allowance for 
doubtful debt amounting to S$1.9 million provided during the year.
Finance costs for FY2007 also increased by 17.0% due to higher 
interest rates charged for bank borrowings. Nevertheless, the 
Group’s financial condition continues to be healthy with cash and 
cash equivalents standing at S$28.2 million.

Asia Power’s net cash inflow from operating activities surged 28.4% 
to S$36.6 million in FY2007 from S$28.5 million in FY2006. This is 
in correspondence with the Group’s growth in the Power Plants and 

12
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Power Related Technology business segments by 2.1% and 158.5% 
respectively. Conversely, the Group’s Investment Holding and Others 
business segment’s revenue decreased by S$2.2 million to S$8.6 
million.

Due to a drop in net profit, earnings per share for the Group decreased 
from FY2007’s SG 5.62 cents to SG 3.38 cents for FY2007. 
Nonetheless, this is not a worrying issue as FY2006’s amplified net 
profit is mainly due to the extraordinary gain from the disposal of 
Shenzhen NARI Technologies Co., Ltd.

In addition, the Group’s net asset value improved to SG 21.21 cents in 
FY2007 from FY2006’s SG 18.98 cents.

Consolidating Renewable Energy

In FY2007, the Group edged closer towards our business transformation 
into the renewable energy sector, in view of China’s surging demand 
for clean energy within the country. 

During FY2007, the Group stepped up another gear in our drive towards 
hydropower by successfully securing a 94% controlling interest over 
Asia Power (Yunxian) Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd. 

Previously, the Group already owned a 55% direct interest and 
another indirect interest of 15% through the Group’s subsidiary - JAZ 
Technology Development (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd in Yunxian. The remaining 

13
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30% was eventually completed via our wholly owned Asia Power 
(Chengdu) Investment Management Co., Ltd, a company which is 
principally engaged in the provision of power-related investment, 
business consultation and management services in the PRC.

To further improve margins from the Group’s hydropower plants, we 
implemented a new management system that aims to enhance safey 
and efficiency levels of the energy plants. As a result of which, the 
Group’s subsidiary, Asia Power (Neijiang) Hydro Electricity Co., Ltd 
experienced lower operation and management costs.

During the year under review, Asia Power (Leibo) Hydroelectricity Co., 
Ltd, whose principal activity is to develop and operate hydropower 
electricity generation plants with 40 MW installation capacity in 
Sichuan, PRC, completed all necessary paperwork processes from 

approval to construction in the past year. This is no doubt due to 
measures that were introduced in FY2007 that seeks to shorten the 
time taken for approval and construction of hydropower projects.

Prospects and Growth Strategies

Some of the major issues facing the world today are surging oil prices 
and the imminent dangers of an abused Earth. As such, China’s Law 
on Renewable Energy, which promotes cleaner energy technologies, 
is now more important than ever. 

On top of that, China’s National People’s Congress, has recently 
passed a plan to reshuffle central government bureaucracy and set 
up five super-ministries. One of the super-ministries that was set 
up - environmental protection - suggests that China is committed 

BUSINESS REVIEW
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to cutting CO2 emissions and other greenhouse gases. This comes 
after the recent snowstorms, which caused a breakdown in coal 
and power supply and exposed the weakness of its energy security 
policy. 

Coupled with China’s voracious appetite for energy due to the growing 
affluence of the economy, the Group’s strategy of developing more 
lucrative renewable energy places the Group in a favorable position 
for future growth.

The Group will continue to explore expansion opportunities through 
acquisitions of existing projects and at the same time, accelerate 
efforts in the development of the hydropower electricity generation 
plant.



Addyson Xue, Non-Executive Chairman
Mr Addyson Xue is Non-Executive Chairman of the Company. He provides leadership to the Board and overall business strategy and planning 
of the Group. He is also Non-Executive Chairman of Asia Water Technology Ltd, a company listed in Singapore. Mr Xue has over 20 years 
of experience in the management and operation of PRC power plants and has held senior management positions in a number of PRC 
power companies including Heilongjiang Electric Power Co., Ltd (listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange) and Grand Union Power Investment & 
Development Co., Ltd. He obtained his Post-Graduate Education Certifi cate (Economic Management) from the Institute of Social Science, 
Heilongjiang.

Zhao Shuheng, Executive Vice Chairman
Mr Zhao Shuheng is Executive Director and Vice Chairman of the Company. He was formerly Non-Executive Independent Director of the 
Company. Prior to that, he was General Manager for Heilongjiang Province Power Bureau, a position he held since 1993. He was promoted to 
Managing Director in 1999. Mr Zhao has over 30 years of experience in the management and operation of power plants in the PRC and was 
conferred a professorship in power technology. In addition to that, Mr Zhao has also won various accolades from the state for his outstanding 
contributions to the PRC power industry. Mr Zhao obtained his bachelor degree in power technology (major in thermodynamic systems) from 
Chongqing University, PRC. 

Sha Guangwen, Executive Director and CEO
Mr. Sha Guangwen is Executive Director and CEO of the Company. Mr. Sha is also Independent Director of Devotion Eco-Thermal Limited 
(listed in Singapore) and Chairman of Rockstead Capital Private Limited, a boutique investment and fund management firm. Prior to joining 
the Company as CEO, he was Executive Director of Asia Water Technology Ltd, a company listed on the Singapore Exchange. In addition, Mr. 
Sha possesses many years of experience in managing capital  investment and risk management companies. In the course of his investment 
and risk management work, he was appointed by various companies to oversee their operations. His past appointments saw him took up 
positions as, General Manager of Hainan Aisino Investment Co., Ltd and Heilongjiang Longdian Investment Co., Ltd, Deputy General Manager 
and subsequently General Manager of Yangpu Tianhe Taifu Investment Co., Ltd, and also Chief Executive Officer of Hainan Bingang Real 
Estate Investment Co., Ltd. As of to-date, he no longer holds any executive roles in these companies. Mr. Sha holds two degrees in Economics 
and Literature from Heilongjiang University of Commerce and Harbin Normal University respectively.

Li Tianfei, Non-Executive Director
Mr Li Tianfei is Non-Executive Director of the Company. He was formerly President of the Company. Prior to that, he was Vice President 
of Heilongjiang Electric Power Co., Ltd, a company listed in the Shanghai Stock Exchange. He has over 30 years of experience in the PRC 
power industry, including Daqing Xinhua Power Plant and Harbin No.3 Power Plant. Mr Li received his Master of Science degree in Technical 
Economics from Harbin Institute of Technology.

Ng Fook Ai, Victor, Independent Director
Mr. Ng Fook Ai is Independent Director of the Company. Mr. Ng is the Chairman of  London Asia Group, a merchant banking and fund 
management group focused on clean technology and socially-responsible investments. He  is concurrently Executive Director, AIM-listed, 
London Asia Chinese Private Equity Fund Limited . Victor was until recently, also Group Executive Director of AIM-listed, London Asia Capital 
plc. A former Principal with KPMG Singapore, Victor sits on the  Board of several China/ Asia-Pacific-focused Energy  companies including :
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i) Devotion Energy Group Ltd (SGX-listed) ,Chairman,
ii)  Asia Water Technology  Ltd,(Catalist) 
iii)  Asia Clean Energy Pte Ltd
iv)  China New Energy Ltd
v)   China Solar Energy Ltd
vi)  World Water Pte Ltd
vii) China New Energy plc

V ic to r  , ho lds  B .Sc (Econs ) (Hons )  and M.Sc(Econs)(London University), where he was awarded the University’s Convocation Book Prize 
(First) and the Lord Hailsham Scholarship. He  was awarded the PBM(Community Services)for his social contributions by the President of the 
Republic of Singapore. 

Victor also sponsored  The Victor Ng Fund , a bursary scheme for graduate students at Birkbeck College, University of London.

Victor is currently a Visiting Professor (Energy Economics), China Academy of Sciences, New Energy Institute (Guangzhou), People’s Republic 
of China.

He initiated ,launched and now serves as the President of the  Singapore Chapter of the US-based, International Association for Energy 
Economics (IAEE). 

Past Honorary Appointments include Resource Person with Singapore Parliamentary Committee(Defence & Foreign Affairs) , Singapore 
Parliamentary Committee (National Development), Council Member, Singapore Transport Council.

He Jun, Joseph, Independent Director
Mr. He Jun, Joseph is Independent Director of the Company. Joseph is a Senior Foreign Law Consultant in both the Corporate/Mergers & 
Acquisitions Practice and the Equity Capital Markets Practice. He also co-heads the China Practice. His main areas of practice are corporate 
finance, equity capital market, foreign investment in China, mergers and acquisitions and property development in China. 

Transactions of significance in which Joseph has been involved include acting for the managers in initial public offerings that have significant 
PRC operations (eg. Asiawater Technology Ltd and China Fashion Holdings Limited). He has also acted for CapitaLand Group in the disposal of its 
entire equity interests in Shanghai Xinmao Property Development Co. Ltd. and Shanghai Huteng Real Estate Co. Ltd. both of them incorporated 
in Shanghai at the consideration of US$103 million and US$107 million respectively; and for Hong Leong Asia Ltd in its successful acquisition 
of the PRC operations of Hong Leong Corporation Limited. 

Joseph graduated with a Bachelor of Arts from Yunnan University (PRC) and obtained Master of Laws from both China University of Politics 
and Law in Beijing and McGeorge School of Law, University of the Pacific (USA). He was also a Visiting Scholar at the School of Law, Columbia 
University (USA) from 1990 to 1991. Joseph was admitted to the Bar of the People’s Republic of China in 1994. Joseph has authored a chapter 
on Legislative Requirements in the investors and entrepreneur’s guide Setting Up Business in China - The Essential Handbook published by Key 
Media Pte Ltd (2002). He also presents and participates in panel discussions at regional and local conferences on PRC-related topics.

17



ASIA POWER CORPORATION LIMITED       Annual Report 2007 ASIA POWER CORPORATION LIMITED       Annual Report 2007

Tian Aimin, Vice President
Mr Tian Aimin is the Group’s Vice President in China. He oversees the daily operation of the Group and maintains cordial relations with the 
Company’s joint venture partners and various authorities in China. Prior to this, he was Deputy General Manager of Shenzhen Nari Technologies 
Co., Ltd and Changzhou Suyuan Electric Power Co., Ltd. His previous career stints also include working as an investment manager in Shenzhen 
Tianhe Taifu Investment Co., Ltd and a software architect in Harbin Industrial University Industrial Information System. Mr Tian, who was formerly 
a lecturer in Harbin Industrial University, holds a Master’s degree in Management Information System from Harbin Industrial University.

Chen Hailiang, Vice President
Mr Chen Hailiang is the Group’s Vice President in China. He overseas the Group’s due diligence in potential new investment projects. He is also 
a former Non-Executive Director of the Company. Prior to that, Mr Chen was General Manager (Beijing Head Office) of Capital-Bridge Securities 
Co., Ltd. and General Manager (Beijing Investment Banking Division) of China Eagle Securities Co., Ltd. He is familiar with the PRC’s securities 
and listing rules and regulations, especially corporate restructuring and new listings in the PRC. Mr Chen received his Master of Science degree 
in Administrative Management from Jilin University. 

Li Tianming, Vice President
Mr Li Tianming is the Group’s Vice President in Singapore. He is responsible for the Group’s corporate finance, business development and 
accounting and administration functions. Mr Li holds a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) in business and fi nance from University of Portsmouth, UK and a 
Master (Hons) of Business Administration from University of Chicago Graduate School of Business at Chicago, USA.

Wang Yuezhong, Chief Financial Officer
Mr Wang Yuezhong is the Group’s Chief Financial Officer in China. He is responsible for the Group’s accounting, finance and tax function. Prior 
to this, he is formerly Deputy General Manager of Shenzhen NARI Technologies Co., Ltd. Mr Wang has many years of working experience in a 
multi-national company before joining the company, and is currently Director of JAZ Technology Development (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Mr Wang holds 
a Bachelor’s degree in Accountancy and is a qualifi ed CPA in China. 

Hong Yuling, Ellen, Finance Manager
Ms Hong Yuling, Ellen is the Finance Manager of the Company, assisting the Chief Financial Control in the Group’s accounting, finance, and 
human resource and tax function. Ms. Hong has various experiences in auditing and SGX listed companies. She completed her professional 
examination under the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA”) programme and is currently a member of Institution of Certified 
Pubic Accountant of Singapore. 

MANAGEMENT TEAM
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE

ASIA POWER CORPORATION LTD (Singapore)

Heilongjiang Asiapower Xinbao Heating 
& Power Co., Ltd. (51%)

Asia Power (Shanghai) Management 
Consulting Co., Ltd (100%)

Great Energy Development Limited (100%)

Asia Power (Neijiang) Hydroelectricity 
Co., Ltd. (60%)

Asia Hydro Power Investment 
Pte Ltd. (51%)

Changzhou Huayuan Electric Power
Co. Ltd. (25%)

Changzhou Suyuan Electric Power Co., Ltd. (25%)

Asia Power (Shenzhen) Management Consulting
Co., Ltd. (100%)

Asia Power (Chengdu) Investment Management
Co., Ltd (100%)

Yang Pu Li Yuan Power Development Co., Ltd

Sichuan Anning River 
Energy Development Co., Ltd

APC Hydro Power (Investment) Pte Ltd (100%)

Rich Bvild Investment Limited (60%)

Asia Power (Yunxian) Hydroelectricity
Co., Ltd (55%)

Asia Power (Leibo) Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd.

15%

100% JAZ Technology Development (Shenzhen)
Co.,Ltd

30%

Chongqing Yujiankou Hydroelectric., Ltd
31.6%

100%

35%

30%

20%

55%
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Corporate Governance Statement

The Company is committed to achieve high level of corporate governance relating to the processes and structure 

by which the business and affairs of the Company are directed and managed within the Group in compliance with 

the recommendation of the Code of Corporate Governance (the “Code”) issued by the Corporate Governance 

Committee. This statement outlines the main corporate governance practices as adopted by the Company and 

discloses their deviations, if any, from the Code.

1. BOARD MATTERS

 Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

 The Company is headed by the Board to lead and control the Company so as to protect and enhance 

long-term shareholder value. Its main responsibilities are to:

  ensure the compliance of its statutory and regulatory responsibilities;

  set and review the Group’s overall business strategies and policies;

  supervise and monitor executive management;

  approve the nomination of directors and appointment of key personnel;

  ensure an adequate system of internal controls and compliance with fi nancial reporting requirements; 

and 

  approve annual budgets, investment and divestment proposals and review the Group’s fi nancial 

performance and managerial performance.

 To facilitate effective execution of its function, the Board has established the following Board Committees. 

The Board Committees operate under clearly defi ned terms of reference. The Chairman of the Board 

Committees report to the Board the outcome of the Committees’ meetings:

 (a) the Audit Committee (“AC”);

 (b) the Remuneration Committee (“RC”); 

 (c) the Nominating Committee (“NC”); and

 (d) the Share Option Scheme Administration Committee (“SOSAC”)

 The Board conducts meetings on a half-yearly basis to coincide with the announcement of the Group’s 

half-year and full-year results. Ad-hoc meetings are convened as warranted by particular circumstances. 

In addition to these meetings, special corporate events and actions requiring Board immediate approval 

were discussed over electronic mails and telephonic conference and resolved with director’s resolutions in 

writing. Article 99 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides for telephonic conferences meetings.
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Corporate Governance Statement

 The attendance of the directors at meetings of the Board and Board Committees held in year 2007 is set 

out as follows:

 Attendance Record of the Board & Board Committees 

Name of Director Board of 
Directors

Audit 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Nominating 
Committee

Total Number of Meetings Held 4 3 1 1

Addyson Xue Note 1 4 1 N.A. –

Zhao Shuheng 4 1 N.A. N.A.

Ng Fook Ai, Victor 2 3 1 1

Li Tianfei  Note 2 4 2 – N.A.

Sha Guangwen Note 3 3 1 N.A. 1

He Jun Note 4 – – – –

 Note:

 1. Mr Addyson Xue was appointed as a member of the Nominating Committee on 31 December 2007.

 2.  Mr Li Tianfei was appointed as a member of the Audit and Remuneration Committee on 1 April 2007.

 3. Mr Sha Guangwen was appointed as a member of the Nominating Committee on 1 April 2007 and ceased to be a 

member of the Nominating Committee on 31 December 2007.

 4. Mr He Jun was appointed as a Director and a member of the Audit, Remuneration and Nominating Committee on 31 

December 2007.

 N.A.     Not Applicable

 Matters Requiring Board Approval

 The Company has adopted internal guidelines on the following corporate events and actions requiring 

Board approval:

 (a) announcement of results;

 (b) audited results and annual reports;

 (c) transactions in acquisition and disposal;

 (d) changes in corporate strategies;

 (e) declaration of interim dividends and proposed fi nal dividends; and

 (f) all matters, which are delegated to Board Committee, are to be reported to and monitored by the 

Board.
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 Training of Directors

 The Company does not have a formal training program for the directors but newly appointed directors are 

provided with extensive information regarding the Group’s businesses and governance practices. Directors 

also have the opportunity to visit the Group’s operational facilities and meet with Management to be familiar 

with the business operations.

 Principle 2: Board Composition and Balance

 The Board of Directors comprises 6 directors, 2 of whom are independent directors. The Directors of the 

Company as at the date of this statement are:-

 1. Mr Addyson Xue (Non-Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Director)

 2. Mr Zhao Shuheng (Executive Director and Executive Vice-Chairman)

 3. Mr Sha Guangwen (Executive Director and Chief Executive Offi cer)

 4. Mr Li Tianfei (Non-Executive Director)

 5. Mr Ng Fook Ai, Victor (Non-Executive and Independent Director)

 6. Mr He Jun (Non-Executive and Independent Director)

 Key information regarding the Directors is set out on pages 16 and 17 of this Annual Report.

 Given the nature and scope of the Company’s operations, the Board considers its current size suffi cient and 

appropriate. The Board is considered to have competent and qualifi ed directors who provide the Company 

with a good balance of accounting, fi nance, and management expertise with strategic planning experience 

and sound industry knowledge.

 Non-executive members of the Board exercise no management functions in the Company or any of its 

subsidiaries. Although all the directors have equal responsibility for the performance of the Group, the non-

executive directors are particularly important in ensuring that the strategies proposed by the executive 

management are fully discussed and rigorously examined and take account of the long-term interests, not 

only of the shareholders, but also of the employees, customers and suppliers.

 The Board considers its independent directors to be of suffi cient calibre and number, and their views to be 

of suffi cient weight that no individual or small group can dominate the Board’s decision-making processes. 

They have no fi nancial or contractual interests in the Group other than by way of their fees and granting of 

Asia Power Share Options under the Asia Power Share Option Scheme.

 Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer

 The Group keeps the posts of Chairman and CEO separate and there is a clear division of responsibilities 

between the Chairman and the CEO, which ensures a balance of power and authority at the top of the 

Group. The Chairman, Mr Addyson Xue and the CEO, Mr Sha Guangwen are not related.

 The CEO holds an executive position as he has considerable industry experience and remains involved in 

signifi cant corporate matters, especially those of strategic nature. The Chairman is primarily responsible for 

the effective working of the Board. The Chairman’s responsibilities include:

 (a) scheduling of meetings (with the assistance of the Company Secretary) to enable the Board to 

perform its duties responsibly while not interfering with the fl ow of the Group’s operations;
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 (b) preparing meeting agenda in consultation with the CEO;

 (c) assisting in ensuring the Group’s compliance with the Code; and

 (d) leading the Board in deliberation and resolution of corporate affairs and management actions.

 The Board has delegated the day-to-day running of the Group to the CEO. Both the Chairman and the 

CEO exercise control over the quality, quantity and timeliness of information fl ow between the Board and 

the management.

 As no one individual holds a considerable concentration of power, the Board considers the objectives of the 

Code to have been met.

 Principle 4: Board Membership

 The Nominating Committee (“NC”) comprises three Directors, a majority of whom, including the Chairman, 

are independent. 

 Mr He Jun (Chairman) Non-Executive and Independent Director

 Mr Ng Fook Ai, Victor Non-Executive and Independent Director

 Mr Addyson Xue Non-Executive Director

 

 The role of the NC is to oversee the appointment and induction process for directors. Its responsibilities 

include re-nomination taking into account the director’s contribution and performance as well as conducting 

an annual assessment on whether or not a director is independent.

 The NC considers and makes recommendations to the Board concerning the appropriate structure, size 

and needs of the Board, having regard to the appropriate skills mix, personal qualities and experience 

required for the effective performance of the Board. The NC also recommends all appointments and 

retirement of directors and considers candidates to fi ll new positions created by expansion and vacancies 

that occur by resignation, retirement or for any other reasons.

 Candidates are selected for their character, judgment, business experience and acumen. Where a Director 

has multiple board representations, the NC will evaluate whether or not a director is able to and has been 

adequately carrying out his or her duties as director of the Company. Final approval of a candidate is 

determined by the full Board.

 In appointing directors, the Board considers the range of skills and experience required in the light of:

 (a) the geographical spread and diversity of the Group’s businesses;

 (b) the strategic direction and progress of the Group;

 (c) the current composition of the Board; and

 (d) the need for independence.

 Article 91 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that at each annual general meeting of 

the Company, not less than one third of the directors (who have been longest in the offi ce since their 

appointment or re-election) are to retire from offi ce by rotation. A retiring director is eligible for re-relection 

by the Shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting.



ASIA POWER CORPORATION LIMITED       Annual Report 2007

26

Corporate Governance Statement

 The dates of fi rst appointment and last re-election of the Directors are as follows:

Director Date of appointment Date of last re-election

Mr Addyson Xue 12 July 2004 26 April 2007

Mr Zhao Shuheng 6 July 2005 27 April 2006

Mr Li Tianfei 14 August 1999 27 April 2006

Mr Ng Fook Ai, Victor 9 June 1999 26 April 2007

Mr Sha Guangwen 22 February 2006 27 April 2006

Mr He Jun 31 December 2007 N.A.

 Principle 5: Board Performance

 The Board recognizes the merit of having formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole 

and the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board. The NC has adopted a set of 

performance criteria that is linked to long-term shareholders’ value to be used for performance evaluation 

of the Board. The set of performance criteria includes the Company’s share price performance over a fi ve 

year period benchmarked against the benchmark index of the Company’s industry peers, return on equity 

and profi tability on capital employed. The NC will also evaluate the attendance, the individual contribution of 

directors and their industrial experience and knowledge.

 Principle 6: Access to Information

 Directors receive regular supply of adequate and timely information from the Management about the Group 

so that they are equipped to play as full a part as possible in Board meetings. Detailed Board papers 

are prepared for each meeting of the Board and are circulated in advance of each meeting. The Board 

papers include suffi cient information on fi nancial, business and corporate issues to enable the directors to 

be properly briefed on issues to be deliberated at the Board meetings.

 All directors have unrestricted access to the Company’s record and information. The directors also 

liaise with senior management as required, and may consult with other employees and seek additional 

information on request. In addition, the Directors have separate and independent access to the advice 

and services of the Company Secretary, who is responsible to the Board for ensuring that established 

procedures and relevant statutes and regulations are compiled with. The Company Secretary attends all 

Board meetings.

 Should a Director require independent professional advice concerning any aspect of the Group’s operations 

or undertakings in order to fulfi ll his duties and responsibilities as a director, the Board will appoint at the 

Company’s expense a professional adviser to assist such Director. The Board has retained the services of a 

law fi rm as its legal adviser.

2. REMUNERATION MATTERS

 Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
 Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration

 The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) comprises three Directors, the majority of whom, including the 

Chairman are independent.

 Mr He Jun (Chairman) Non-Executive and Independent Director

 Mr Ng Fook Ai, Victor Non-Executive and Independent Director

 Mr Li Tianfei Non-Executive Director 
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 The RC reviews and approves recommendations on the remuneration packages for the executive directors 

and key executives. No director is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The review covers all aspects 

of remuneration, including but not limited to director’s fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options, and 

benefi ts-in-kind. 

 In setting the remuneration packages for executive directors and key executives, the Company has made 

a comparative study of the remuneration packages in comparable industries and has taken into account 

the performance of the Company and that of its executive directors and offi cers. The Group’s remuneration 

policy is to provide compensation packages at market rates which reward successful performance 

and attract, retain and motivate executive directors and offi cers. Directors’ fees are determined and 

recommended for approval at annual general meetings. The RC’s recommendations are submitted for 

endorsement by the full Board. 

 Principal 9: Disclosure on Remuneration

 Details of remuneration and fees paid to the Directors of the Company in the fi nancial year ended 31 

December 2007 are set out below:

Remuneration Band Number of Directors

2007 2006

$500,000 and above – 1

$250,000 to below S$500,000 1 1

Below S$250,000 5 6

 A breakdown showing the level and mix of each individual Director’s remuneration for the fi nancial year 

ended 31 December 2007 is set out below:

Name of Directors

Salary

(%)

Bonus

(%)

Fees

(%)

Other

Benefi ts

(%)

Total

(%)

Options 

granted

during the

year

Addyson Xue – – 100 – 100 700,000

He Jun* – – – – – –

Li Tianfei** 37 – – 63 100 300,000

Ng Fook Ai,Victor – – 100 – 100 400,000

Sha Guangwen 62 29 9 – 100 700,000

Zhao Shuheng 68 26 6 – 100 700,000

 * Appointed on 31 December 2007

 ** Re-designated as a non-executive director on 1 April 2007
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 Details of the remuneration of the top key executives (who are not also directors) of the Company during 

the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2007 are set out below:

 

 A breakdown showing the level and mix of each individual key executive’s remuneration for the fi nancial 

year ended 31 December 2007 is set out below:

Name of key

executives

Salary

(%)

Bonus

(%)

Fees

(%)

Other

Benefi ts

(%)

Total

(%)

Options 

granted

during the

year

Below S$250,000

Tian Aimin 71 29 – – 100 320,000

Chen Hailiang 73 27 – – 100 300,000

Li Tianming 73 27 – – 100 300,000

Wang Yuezhong 75 25 – – 100 200,000

 The RC and the Board have considered and are of the view that the remuneration policies are appropriate 

and fair. As such the Board is of the view that there is no necessity at the moment to invite the annual 

general meeting to approve the remuneration policies.

 The Company does not have any employee who is an immediate family member of a Director or CEO 

whose remuneration exceeds S$150,000 during the year. 

 The Asia Power Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) was approved and adopted by its members at an 

extraordinary general meeting held on 19 October 1999. Details of the Scheme are set out in the Annual 

Report on page 35.

3. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

 Principle 10: Accountability

 In presenting the annual fi nancial statements and interim announcements to shareholders, it is the aim of 

the Board to provide the shareholders with a balanced assessment of the Group’s position and prospects. 

The Management currently provides the executive directors with detailed management accounts of the 

Group’s performance, position and prospects on a quarterly basis. Non-executive directors are briefed on 

signifi cant matters when required and receive appropriately detailed reports on a regular basis.

 Principle 11: Audit Committee

 The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises three Directors, all non-executive, the majority of whom, including 

the Chairman, are independent.

 Mr Ng Fook Ai, Victor (Chairman) Non-Executive and Independent Director

 Mr He Jun Non-Executive and Independent Director

 Mr Li Tianfei Non-Executive Director 

 The Board is of the view that the members of the AC are appropriately qualifi ed to discharge their 

responsibilities.
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The AC meets periodically with the Group’s external auditors and its internal audit team to review 

accounting, auditing and fi nancial reporting matters so as to ensure that an effective control environment is 

maintained in the Group. 

 The AC’s main roles and responsibility includes:

 (a) reviews the audit plans and scope of audit examination of the external auditors;

 (b) reviews and approves the internal audit plans of the internal audit team;

 (c) reviews the adequacy of the internal audit function;

 (d) evaluates the adequacy of the internal control systems of the Group by reviewing written reports 

from the internal audit team and external auditors, and the management’s responses and actions to 

correct any defi ciencies;

 (e) reviews the annual the annual and interim fi nancial statements and announcements to shareholders 

before submission to the Board for adoption;

 (f) nominates external auditors of the Company for appointment of reappointment;

 (g) reviews interested person transactions (as defi ned in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST) 

conducted during the fi nancial year; and

 (h) considers other matters as requested by the Board.

 The AC is authorized to investigate any matter within its terms of reference, and has full access to the 

management and also full discretion to invite any director or executive offi cer to attend its meetings, as 

well as reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its function properly. Annually, the AC meets with the 

internal audit teams and the external auditors separately, without the presence of the management. This is 

to review the adequacy of audit arrangements, with particular emphasis on the scope and quality of their 

audits, the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and the observations of the auditors.

 The AC has reviewed the volume of non-audit services to the Group by the external auditors and is satisfi ed 

that the nature and extent of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the 

external auditors.

 The Company will be adopting a whistle blowing policy in due course. This policy will aim to provide 

well-defi ned and accessible channels in the Group through which employees may raise concerns about 

improper conduct within the Group.

 Principal 12: Internal Control
 Principle 13: Internal Audit

 The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the overall internal control framework, but recognises that 

no cost effective internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities, as a system is designed 

to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only 

reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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 The internal audit team is lead by the Vice President and assisted by the Chief Financial Controller and the 

fi nance manager in charge of China operations and outside professional consultants on technical issues (if 

necessary). The internal audit team is responsible for the review of the effectiveness and compliance control 

system and procedures such as fi nancial, operational and compliance controls of the Company and its 

subsidiaries and associates (both local and overseas) 

 The internal audit team will conduct its internal audit function on various overseas subsidiaries or associates 

and reports its fi ndings directly to the AC.

 The AC has reviewed the internal audit function and is of the view that it would not be cost effective to 

have an internal auditor (which has to be independent of other functions) in relation to the operations of the 

Group and is satisfi ed that it can be adequately handled by the Group’s internal audit team. However, the 

AC will continuously review the situation and would recommend the set up of an internal audit department 

or outsource the internal audit function to professional accounting fi rms once the need arises. 

4. COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

 Principle 14: Regular, Effective and Fair Communications with Shareholders

 The Company believes in timely and accurate dissemination of information to its shareholders. The Board 

makes every effort to comply with continuous disclosure obligations of the Company under the SGX-ST’s 

Listing Rules and the Singapore Companies Act. Communication to shareholders is normally made through:

 (a) annual reports that are prepared and issued to all shareholders;

 (b) announcements of half-year and full year fi nancial results containing a summary of the fi nancial 

information and affairs of the Group for the period;

 c) notices and explanatory memoranda for annual general meetings and extraordinary general 

meetings;

 d) disclosures and announcements via SGXNET to the SGX-ST;

 (e) the Group’s website at http://www.asiapower.com.sg at which shareholders can access information; 

and

 (f) electronic mails to corporate email address at admin@asiapower.com.sg

 Principle 15: Greater Shareholders Participation

 In addition, shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual general meetings held at convenient venue 

and appropriate time to ensure a high level of accountability. The annual general meeting is the principal 

forum for dialogue with shareholders. The Company values any feedback from shareholders. During 

the annual general meetings, shareholders are given ample time and opportunities to air their views and 

concerns.

 The Company allows members to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the annual general meetings, in 

accordance with Section 181 of the Singapore Companies Act and Articles 65 to 75 of the Company’s 

Articles of Association.

 Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings for each distinct issue.
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 The Chairpersons of the Board Committees will normally be present for all general meetings and available 

to address questions at general meetings. External auditors are also present to assist the directors in 

addressing any queries by shareholders.

5. Interested Person Transactions

 The Company has adopted an internal policy in respect of any transactions with interested persons and has 

set out the procedures for review and approval of the Company’s interested person transactions.

 The signifi cant related party transactions are disclosed in the relevant notes to the fi nancial statements.

6. Material Contracts

There was no material contracts entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries involving the interest 

of the CEO, any Director, or controlling shareholder.

7.   Dealing in Securities
 

 In line with Chapter 12, Rule 1207(18) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST on dealing in securities, the 

Company has in place a policy prohibiting share dealings by Directors and employees of the Company 

during the period commencing one month before the announcement of the Company’s fi nancial statements 

for the half year and the fi nancial year, as the case may be, and ending on the date of the announcement 

of the relevant results. This has been made known to directors, offi cers and staff of the Company and the 

Group. 

 In particular, it has been highlighted that to deal in the Company’s Securities as well as securities of other 

listed companies when the offi cers (directors and employees) are in possession of unpublished material 

price sensitive information in relation to those securities is an offence. The offi cers are also discouraged 

from dealing in the Company’s securities on short-term consideration.

8.  Risk Management Policies

 The Group has considered and summarised the following signifi cant business and operating risks that arise 

from the normal course of its operations.

 (i) General business risk

  The principal activities of the Group are those relating to owning, managing and operating of power 

plants and investment holding. The Group’s power plants in the PRC are subject to government 

regulations in most aspects of its operations, including the amount and timing of electricity 

generation, electricity tariff rates, environmental protection requirements and compliance with power 

grid control and dispatch directives. The power industry of PRC is currently undergoing reforms 

whereby the industry is expected to have signifi cant changes to the structure and regulations.

 (ii) Customer risk

  Most of the Group’s power plants collect electricity tariff from a single off taker, which is the 

respective local or provincial power bureau or their affi liates. In the event that an off taker defaults 

on tariff payment, it could have a signifi cant impact on the performance of the Group. However, the 

Group has not experienced major disputes with its off takers on the collection of tariff revenue.
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 (iii) Fluctuations in raw material prices and supply

  Raw materials constitute a large proportion of total operating costs for coal-fi red power plants. 

Hence, any increases in raw material prices or disruptions in raw material supply could adversely 

affect the fi nancial performance of the Group. So far, the Group’s power plants have received 

suffi cient and timely allocations of raw materials. There can be no assurance that a disruption of raw 

material supply will not occur in the future.

 (iv) Operational risk

  The operation of power plants involves many risks and hazards, including the breakdown, failure, 

or substandard performance of equipment, natural disasters, labour disturbances, environmental 

hazards and industrial accidents. The occurrence of material operational problems, including not 

limited to the above events, may adversely affect the profi tability of a power plant. The Group 

currently maintains a comprehensive property insurance covering losses caused to the fi xed assets 

of the Group. However, it excludes wars, hostile acts, riots, nuclear radiation and earthquakes.

 The fi nancial risk management objectives and policies are discussed in the notes to the fi nancial 

statements.
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The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated fi nancial statements of the group and 

the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the company for the fi nancial year ended December 31, 

2007.

1 DIRECTORS

 The directors of the company in offi ce at the date of this report are:

 Addyson Xue

 He Jun (Appointed on December 31, 2007)

 Li Tianfei

 Ng Fook Ai, Victor

 Sha Guangwen

 Zhao Shuheng

2 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS
 BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

 Neither at the end of the fi nancial year nor at any time during the fi nancial year did there subsist any 

arrangement whose object is to enable the directors of the company to acquire benefi ts by means of the 

acquisition of shares or debentures in the company or any other body corporate except as disclosed in 

paragraph 3 of the Report of the Directors.

3 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

 The directors of the company holding offi ce at the end of the fi nancial year had no interests in the share 

capital and debentures of the company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’ 

shareholdings kept by the company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, except as follows:

Shareholdings registered 
in name of directors

Shareholdings in which directors 
are deemed to have an interest

Name of directors and 
 company in which interests 
 are held

At beginning 
of year 
or date 

appointment, 
if later

At end of 
year

At January 
21, 2008  

At beginning 
of year 
or date 

appointment, 
if later

At end of 
year

At January 
21, 2008  

Asia Power Corporation Limited Options to subscribe for ordinary shares

Addyson Xue

Exercise price of:

- $0.13 exercisable between 

  December 24, 2007 and 

  December 23, 2016 1,500,000 – – –       –     –     

- $0.31 exercisable between 

  August 08, 2008 and 

  August 08, 2013 – 700,000 700,000 –       –     –     
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Shareholdings registered 
in name of directors

Shareholdings in which directors 
are deemed to have an interest

Name of directors and 
 company in which interests 
 are held

At beginning 
of year 
or date 

appointment, 
if later

At end of 
year

At January 
21, 2008  

At beginning 
of year 
or date 

appointment, 
if later

At end of 
year

At January 
21, 2008  

Asia Power Corporation Limited Options to subscribe for ordinary shares

Li Tianfei

Exercise price of:

- $0.17 exercisable between 

  December 21, 2002 and 

  December 20, 2011 667 667      667 –       –     –    

- $0.14 exercisable between 

  December 10, 2003 and 

  December 9, 2012 266,667 667 667 –       –     –    

- $0.17 exercisable between 

  December 17, 2006 and 

  December 16, 2013 266,667 667 667 –       –     –    

- $0.13 exercisable between 

  December 24,2007 and 

  December 23, 2016 1,000,000 –      –     –       –     –    

- $0.31 exercisable between 

  August 08, 2008 and 

  August 08, 2013 –       300,000 300,000 –       –     –    

Ng Fook Ai, Victor

Exercise price of:

- $0.13 exercisable between 

  December 24, 2007 and 

  December 23, 2011 800,000 800,000 800,000 –       –     –    

- $0.31 exercisable between 

  August 08, 2008 and 

  August 08, 2013 –       400,000 400,000 –       –     –    

Sha Guangwen

Exercise price of:

- $0.31 exercisable between 

  August 08, 2008 and 

  August 08, 2017 –     700,000 700,000 –       –     –   

Zhao Shuheng

Exercise price of:

- $0.13 exercisable between 

  December 24, 2007 and 

  December 23, 2011 550,000 –     –     –       –     –   

- $0.31 exercisable between 

  August 08, 2008 and 

  August 08, 2017 –       700,000 700,000 –       –     –

Ordinary shares

Addyson Xue –       1,500,000 1,500,000 – – –
Li Tianfei 556,000 440,000 440,000 – – –
Ng Fook Ai, Victor 480,000   – – – 480,000 480,000
He Jun – – –   78,000 78,000 78,000
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4 DIRECTORS’ RECEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

 Since the beginning of the fi nancial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefi t 

which is required to be disclosed under Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, by reason of a 

contract made by the company or a related corporation with the director or with a fi rm of which he is a 

member, or with a company in which he has a substantial fi nancial interest except for salaries, bonuses and 

other benefi ts as disclosed in the fi nancial statements. Certain directors received remuneration from related 

corporations in their capacity as directors and/or executives of those related corporations.

5 SHARE OPTIONS

 (a) Options to take up unissued shares

  The Asia Power Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) of the company was approved and adopted 

by its members at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on October 19, 1999. The Scheme is 

administered by a Committee of Directors whose members are:

   Zhao Shuheng

   Sha Guangwen (Appointed on April 1, 2007)

   He Jun (Appointed on December 31, 2007)

  Other information regarding the Scheme is set out below:

  (i) the exercise price of the options is determined by the average of the last dealt prices of 

the company’s shares on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited for the three 

consecutive trading days preceding the date of grant of such options;

  (ii) the options granted expire after 5 years or 10 years from the dates of grant unless they are 

cancelled or have lapsed; 

  (iii) options may be exercised one year after the date of grant; and 

  (iv) for options granted on August 8, 2007, the options may be exercised as follows:

   (a) 50% of the options may be exercised one year after the date of grant;

   (b) 80% of the options may be exercised two years after the date of grant; and

   (c) 100% of the options may be exercised three years after the date of grant.
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 b) Unissued shares under option and options exercised

  The number of shares available under the Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the issued share capital 

of the company. The number of outstanding share options under the Scheme are as follows:

Number of options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the company

Date of 
grant of 
options

Exercise 
price 

pershare

Options 
outstanding 
at January 1, 

2007
Options 
granted

Options 
exercised

Options 
cancelled/

lapsed   

Options 
outstanding 
at December 

31, 2007
Exercise 
period   

$

08.11.1999 0.26 218,037 – – (108,679) 109,358 09.11.2000-

08.11.2009

02.01.2001 0.15 693,334 – (426,667) (266,667) – 03.01.2002-

02.01.2011

20.12.2001 0.17 720,667 – (186,667) (266,667) 267,333 21.12.2002-

20.12.2011

09.12.2002 0.14 1,200,333 – (826,000) (320,000) 54,333 10.12.2003-

09.12.2012

16.12.2003 0.17 1,519,999 – (692,666) (320,000) 507,333 17.12.2004-

16.12.2013

23.12.2005 0.13 1,850,000 – (1,050,000) – 800,000 24.12.2006-

23.12.2011

23.12.2005 0.13 7,250,000 – (7,250,000) – – 24.12.2006-

23.12.2016

08.08.2007 0.32 –       1,700,000 – (300,000) 1,400,000 09.08.2008-

08.08.2013

08.08.2007 0.32 –       4,750,000 – (100,000) 4,650,000 09.08.2008-

08.08.2017
 

13,452,370 6,450,000 (10,432,000) (1,682,013) 7,788,357

  Except as disclosed above, there were no unissued shares of the company or its subsidiaries under 

option granted by the company or its subsidiaries as at the end of the fi nancial year.

  There were 6,450,000 options granted during the year to employees of related corporations. A total 

of 40,049,977 (2006 : 33,599,997) options were granted to employees of related corporations from 

the commencement of the Scheme to the end of the fi nancial year.
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  The information on directors of the company participating in the Scheme is as follows:

Name of 
participants

Options 
granted for 

fi nancial 
year ended 
December 
31, 2007

Aggregate 
options 

granted since 
commencement 

of Scheme to 
December 31, 

2007

Aggregate 
options 

exercised since 
commencement 

of Scheme to 
December 31, 

2007

Aggregate 
options 

cancelled/ 
lapsed since 

commencement 
of Scheme to 
December 31, 

2007

Aggregate 
options 

outstanding 
as at 

December 
31, 2007

Directors of the company

Addyson Xue 700,000 2,707,170 (1,500,000) (507,170) 700,000

Li Tianfei 300,000 2,709,812 (2,118,000) (289,811) 302,001 

Ng Fook Ai, Victor 400,000 2,156,478 (480,000) (476,478) 1,200,000

Sha Guang Wen 700,000 700,000 –       –     700,000

Zhao Shuheng 700,000 1,250,000 (550,000) –     700,000

  Except as disclosed above, during the fi nancial year, there were:

  (i) no options granted to controlling shareholders of the company and their associates (as 

defi ned in the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Listing Manual);

  (ii) no participant who had received 5% or more of the total number of the options available 

under the Scheme; and

  (iii) no options granted by the company or its subsidiaries which entitle the holders of the options, 

by virtue of such holding, to any rights to participate in any share issue of any other company.

6 AUDIT COMMITTEE

 The Audit Committee comprises three members, who are independent directors. The members of the Audit 

Committee are:

 Ng Fook Ai, Victor (Chairman)

 Li Tianfei (Appointed on December 31, 2007)

 He Jun (Appointed on December 31, 2007)

 The Audit Committee performed the functions specifi ed in the Singapore Companies Act. The functions 

performed are detailed in the report on Corporate Governance.

 The Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors, the re-appointment of the company’s 

external auditors, Deloitte & Touche, at the forthcoming annual general of the meeting.
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7 AUDITORS

 The auditors, Deloitte & Touche, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Sha Guangwen

Director

Zhao Shuheng

Director

March 18, 2008
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We have audited the accompanying fi nancial statements of Asia Power Corporation Limited (the “company”) and 

its subsidiaries (the “group”) which comprise the balance sheets of the group and of the company as at December 

31, 2007, the profi t and loss statement, statement of changes in equity and cash fl ow statement of the group 

and the statement of changes in equity of the company for the year then ended, and a summary of signifi cant 

accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 41 to 90.

Directors’ Responsibility

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these fi nancial statements 

in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial 

Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant 

to the preparation and fair presentation of fi nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates 

that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 

audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the fi nancial statements are 

free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

fi nancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 

the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 

fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 

the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 

by directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the fi nancial statements. We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion,

(a) the consolidated fi nancial statements of the group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in 

equity of the company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore 

Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and of 

the company as at December 31, 2007 and of the results, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the group 

and changes in equity of the company for the year ended on that date; and

(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the company and by those subsidiaries 

incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the 

provisions of the Act.

Deloitte & Touche

Certifi ed Public Accountants

Singapore

Ernest Kan Yaw Kiong

Partner

March 18, 2008
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Group Company

Note
2007
$’000

2006
$’000

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and bank balances 6 28,152 24,205 1,308 5,429

Trade receivables 7 22,120 24,793 –     –     

Other receivables 8 7,381 11,957 4,455 4,321

Inventories 9 5,765 4,445 –     –     

Held-for-trading investments 10 99 46 99 46

63,517 65,446 5,862 9,796

Non-current investments held-for-sale 11 1,273 –     1,273 –     

Property held-for-sale 12 –     479 –     –     

Total current assets 64,790 65,925 7,135 9,796

Non-current assets
Subsidiaries 13 –     –     53,537 54,617

Associates 14 23,515 21,630 8,791 8,791

Held-to-maturity investments 15 – 7,840 – 7,840

Available-for-sale investments 16 6,567 – 6,567 –

Goodwill 17 18,123 18,123 –     –     

Other asset 18 10 10 10 10

Property, plant and equipments 19 117,128 116,849 9 23

Leasehold prepayments 20 13,486 13,298 –     –     

Deferred tax assets 21 801 638 –     –     

Total non-current assets 179,630 178,388 68,914 71,281

Total assets 244,420 244,313 76,049 81,077
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Group Company

Note
2007
$’000

2006
$’000

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term bank loans 22 7,427 16,013 –     –     

Trade payables 24,088 22,622 –     –     

Other payables 23 29,704 44,613 16,089 25,402

Income tax payable 1,645 829 34 95

Total current liabilities 62,864 84,077 16,123 25,497

Non-current liabilities
Long-term bank loans 22 45,310 39,200 –     –     

Deferred tax liabilities 21 –    72 –     72

Total non-current liabilities 45,310 39,272 –     72

Capital and reserves
Share capital 24 39,457 37,861 39,457 37,861

Reserves 25 57,507 48,986 20,469 17,647

Equity attributable to shareholders of the 

 company 96,964 86,847 59,926 55,508

Minority interests 39,282 34,117 –     –     

Total equity 136,246 120,964 59,926 55,508

Total liabilities and equity 244,420 244,313 76,049 81,077

See accompanying notes to fi nancial statements.
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Note
2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Revenue 26 129,836 120,838

Cost of sales (96,861) (92,120)

Gross profi t 32,975 28,718

Other operating income 27 4,366 13,686

Administrative expenses (12,263) (7,895)

Other operating expenses (1,543) (1,913)

Finance costs 28 (4,738) (4,051)

Share of profi t of associates 14 4,432 4,594

Profi t before income tax 23,229 33,139

Income tax expense 29 (2,269) (1,323)

Profi t for the year 30 20,960 31,816

Attributable to:

 Shareholders of the company 12,272 19,880

 Minority interests 8,688 11,936

20,960 31,816

Earnings per share (cents):

 Basic 31 3.38 5.62

 Diluted 31 3.36 5.50

See accompanying notes to fi nancial statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity
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Statements of Changes in Equity
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Note
Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Share option 
reserve

Retained 
earnings  Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company

Balance at January 1, 2006 29,237 8,230 –  15,422 52,889

Transfer from share premium 

 account 24 8,230 (8,230) –  –     –     

Issue of shares on exercise of 

 share options 24 394 –    –  –     394

Share based payment expense –     –    204 –     204

Profi t for the year –     –    –  5,204 5,204

Dividend paid 32 –     –    –  (3,183)  (3,183)

Balance at December 31, 2006 37,861 –    204 17,443 55,508

Issue of shares on exercise of 

 share options 24 1,408 –    –  –     1,408

Share based payment expense –     –    106 –     106

Movement from exercised 

 options 24 188   –    (188) –     –     

Profi t for the year –     –    –  6,890 6,890

Dividend paid 32 –     –    –  (3,986) (3,986)

Balance at December 31, 2007 39,457 –    122 20,347 59,926

See accompanying notes to fi nancial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Year Ended December 31, 2007

2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Operating activities
 Profi t before income tax 23,229 33,139

 Adjustments for:

  Depreciation expense 8,200 8,403

  Gain on disposal of associates –     (9,980)

  Gain on disposal of property held-for-sale (31) –     

  Loss (Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 297 (12)

  Interest income (1,684) (1,205)

  Interest expense 4,738 4,051

  Doubtful trade debts recovered (16) –     

  Allowance for doubtful trade debts 1,831 11

  Allowance for doubtful non-trade debts 99 –     

  Share-based payment expense 106 204

  Share of profi t of associates  (4,432) (4,594)

 Operating profi t before working capital changes 32,337 30,017

  Inventories (1,320) 92

  Trade receivables 858 14,459

  Other receivables 3,196 (9,439)

  Trade payables 1,466 (22,624)

  Other payables 789 17,521

 Cash generated from operations 37,326 30,026

 Interest income received 991 793

 Income taxes paid  (1,686)  (2,305)

Net cash from operating activities 36,631 28,514

Investing activities
  Dividends received from associates 2,590 5,064

  Interest income received 693 412

  Net cash outfl ow from acquisition of subsidiary and/or business (Note 35) (473) (24,627)

  Net cash outfl ow from acquisition of an associate –     (1,867)

  Purchase of property, plant and equipment (8,742) (13,842)

  Proceeds from disposal of associates –     27,189

  Purchase of held-to-maturity investments –     (7,840)

  Net cash outfl ow from leasehold prepayments –     (3,154)

  Proceeds on disposal of property-held-for sale 510 –      

  Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 361 3,459

Net cash used in investing activities (5,061) (15,206)
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Year Ended December 31, 2007

2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Financing activities
  Interest expense paid (4,738) (4,051)

  Dividends paid to minority shareholders (3,839) (5,150)

  Dividends paid to shareholders of the company (3,986) (3,183)

  Repayment (to) from related parties (14,901) 7,184

  Repayment of bank loans (2,758) (9,417)

  Capital contribution from minority shareholders 613 1,066

  Net proceeds from issue of shares 1,408 394

Net cash used in fi nancing activities (28,201) (13,157)

Net effect of exchange rate changes on balances held in foreign currency 587 3,463

Net increase in cash and bank balances 3,956 3,614

Cash and bank balances at beginning of year 24,205 20,895

Net effect of exchange rate changes on balances held in foreign currency (9) (304)

Cash and bank balances at end of year (Note 6) 28,152 24,205

See accompanying notes to fi nancial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007

1 GENERAL

 The company (Registration No. 199701487C) is incorporated in Singapore with its principal place of 

business and registered offi ce at 5 Shenton Way, #25-02 UIC Building, Singapore 068808. The company is 

listed on the mainboard of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The fi nancial statements are 

expressed in Singapore dollars.

 The principal activity of the company is that of an investment holding company. The principal activities of 

the subsidiaries and associates are set out in Notes 13 and 14 respectively to the fi nancial statements.

 The company’s current liabilities exceed its current assets. The accompanying fi nancial statements of the 

company has been prepared on the assumption that the company will continue as going concerns as the 

company monitors its liquidity risk and debt maturity portfolio and maintain company’s operations, debt 

obligations and to mitigate the effects of fl uctuations in cash fl ows. The directors are confi dent that the 

company will be able to pay their debts when they fall due and continue to operate as going concerns.

 The balance sheet and statements of changes in equity of the company and the consolidated fi nancial 

statements of the group for the year ended December 31, 2007 were authorised for issue by the Board of 

Directors on March 18, 2008.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The fi nancial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost 

convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the 

provisions of the Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - In the current fi nancial year, the group has adopted 

all the new and revised FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are relevant to its operations and 

effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2007. The adoption of these new/revised FRSs 

and INT FRSs does not result in changes to the group’s and company’s accounting policies and has no 

material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years except as disclosed below and in the 

notes to the fi nancial statements.

 FRS 107 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures and amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements relating to capital disclosures

 The group has adopted FRS 107 with effect from annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2007. 

The new Standard has resulted in an expansion of the disclosures in these fi nancial statements regarding 

the group’s fi nancial instruments. The group has also presented information regarding its objectives, policies 

and processes for managing capital (see Note 4) as required by the amendments to FRS 1 which are 

effective from annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2007.

 At the date of authorisation of these fi nancial statements, the following FRS, INT FRSs and amendments to 

FRS that are relevant to the group and the company were issued but not effective:

 FRS 23 - Borrowing Costs (Revised)

 FRS 108 - Operating Segments

 INT FRS 111 - FRS 102 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions

 INT FRS 112 - Service Concession Arrangements

 Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new/revised 

standards.
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 The directors of the company anticipate that the adoption of the above FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments 

to FRSs in future periods will not have a material impact on the fi nancial statements of the group and of the 

company in the period of their initial adoption.

 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated fi nancial statements incorporate the fi nancial statements 

of the company and the entities controlled by the company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the 

company has the power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefi ts 

from its activities.

 The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 

profi t and loss statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as 

appropriate.

 Where necessary, adjustments are made to the fi nancial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting 

policies into line with those used by other members of the group.

 All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

 Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identifi ed separately from the group’s 

equity therein.  Minority interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business 

combination (see below) and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the combination. 

Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated 

against the interests of the group except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able 

to make an additional investment to cover its share of those losses.

 In the company’s fi nancial statements, investments in subsidiaries and associates are carried at cost less 

any impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in the profi t and loss statement.

 BUSINESS COMBINATION - The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method.  

The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of 

assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the group in exchange for 

control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s 

identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under FRS 103 

- Business Combinations are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current 

assets that are classifi ed as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale 

and Discontinued Operations, which are recognised and measured at fair value less costs to sell.

 Goodwill arising from acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess 

of the cost of the business combination over the group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifi able 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after assessment, the group’s interest in the net 

fair value of the acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the 

business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in the consolidated profi t and loss statement.

 The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the minority’s proportion of the 

net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities are recognised on the group’s balance 

sheet when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Financial assets

 Investments are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment 

is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the 

market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs except for those fi nancial 

assets classifi ed as at fair value through profi t or loss which are initially measured at fair value.

 Other fi nancial assets are classifi ed into the following specifi ed categories: fi nancial assets “at fair value 

through profi t or loss”, “held-to-maturity investments”, “available-for-sale” investments and “loans and 

receivables”. The classifi cation depends on the nature and purpose of fi nancial assets and is determined at 

the time of initial recognition.

 Effective interest method

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a fi nancial instrument and 

of allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 

exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the fi nancial 

instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income is recognised on an effective interest rate basis 

for debt instruments other than those fi nancial instruments “at fair value through profi t or loss”.

 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand and demand deposits which are subject to an insignifi cant 

risk of changes in value.

 Held-to-maturity investments

 Unquoted debt securities where the group has positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classifi ed 

as held-to-maturity investments. Held-to-maturity investments are recorded at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method less impairment, with revenue recognised on an effective yield basis.

 If more than an insignifi cant amount of held-to-maturity investments are sold or reclassifi ed before maturity 

(more than insignifi cant in relation to the total amount of held-to-maturity investments) during the current 

fi nancial year or during the two preceding fi nancial years, fi nancial assets shall not be classifi ed as held-to-

maturity.  

 Available-for-sale fi nancial assets

 Certain shares and debt securities held by the group are classifi ed as being available for sale and are stated 

at fair value. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4. Gains and losses arising from 

changes in fair value are recognised directly in the revaluation reserve with the exception of impairment 

losses, interest calculated using the effective interest method and foreign exchange gains and losses 

on monetary assets which are recognised directly in profi t and loss statement. Where the investment 

is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the 

revaluation reserve is included in profi t and loss statement for the period. Dividends on available-for-sale 

equity instruments are recognised in profi t and loss statement when the group’s right to receive payments 

is established. The fair value of available-for-sale monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is 

determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at reporting date. The change in fair 

value attributable to translation differences that result from a change in amortised cost of the asset is 

recognised in profi t and loss statement, and other changes are recognised in equity.
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Held-for-trading investments

 Investments classifi ed as held-for-trading are measured initially at fair value.  Gains and losses arising from 

changes in fair value of investments held for trading purpose are included in profi t and loss statement for 

the period.

 Loans and receivables

 Trade and other receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured 

at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying 

the effective interest rate method, except for short-term trade and other receivables when the recognition of 

interest would be immaterial.

 Impairment of fi nancial assets

 Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profi t or loss, are assessed for indicators of 

impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence 

that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the fi nancial asset, the 

estimated future cash fl ows of the investment have been impacted. For fi nancial assets carried at amortised 

cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of estimated future cash fl ows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

 The carrying amount of the fi nancial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all fi nancial assets 

with the exception of trade and other receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use 

of an allowance account. When a trade or other receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the 

allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profi t and loss 

statement. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profi t and loss 

statement.

 With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 

impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 

impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profi t and 

loss statement to the extent the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed 

does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

 Derecognition of fi nancial assets

 The group derecognises a fi nancial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash fl ows from the asset 

expire, or it transfers the fi nancial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 

asset to another entity. If the group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the group recognises its retained interest in the 

asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the group retains substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership of a transferred fi nancial asset, the group continues to recognise the fi nancial 

asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments

 Classifi cation as debt or equity

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the group are classifi ed according to the substance of 

the contractual arrangements entered into and the defi nitions of a fi nancial liability and an equity instrument.

 Equity instruments

 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after 

deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 

costs.

 Financial liabilities

 Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, except for short- term trade and other 

payables and short-term bank loans, where the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

 Interest-bearing bank loans are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost, using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction 

costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in 

accordance with the group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see below).

 Derecognition of fi nancial liabilities

 The group derecognises fi nancial liabilities when, and only when , the group’s obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or they expire.

 LEASES - Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profi t and loss statement on a straight-

line basis over the term of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the 

time pattern in which economic benefi ts from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising 

under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. Benefi ts 

received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also recognised on a straight-

line basis over the lease term.

 In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised 

as a liability. The aggregate benefi t of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a 

straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in 

which economic benefi ts from the leased assets are consumed.

 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE - Non-current assets and disposal groups are classifi ed as held 

for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing 

use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal 

group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, 

which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of 

classifi cation.
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 Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classifi ed as held for sale are measured at the lower of the assets’ 

previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

 INVENTORIES - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventories comprise 

coal, fuel oil, materials and spare parts for consumption by the power plants and raw materials, work-

in-progress and fi nished goods for the manufacturing plant. Cost includes cost of purchases and, where 

applicable, transportation cost and handling fee. The cost of coal and fuel oil is calculated on the weighted 

average basis. The cost of materials and spare parts for power plants is calculated on the fi rst-in-fi rst-out 

basis. Cost of materials, spare parts, and fi nished goods for the manufacturing plant is calculated using 

the weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated 

costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

 ASSOCIATES - An associate is an entity over which the group has signifi cant infl uence and that is neither 

a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Signifi cant infl uence is the power to participate in the fi nancial 

and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

 The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these fi nancial statements using the 

equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classifi ed as held for sale, in which case it is 

accounted for under FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the 

equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted 

for post-acquisition changes in the group’s share of the net assets of the associate less any impairment in 

the value of individual investments. Losses of an associate in excess of the group’s interest in that associate 

(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the group’s net investment in the 

associate) are not recognised, unless the group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 

payments on behalf of the associate.

 Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the group’s share of the net fair value of the identifi able assets, 

liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised 

as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for 

impairment as part of the investment. Any excess of the group’s share of the net fair value of the identifi able 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised 

immediately in the consolidated profi t and loss statement.

 Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the group, profi ts and losses are eliminated to the 

extent of the group’s interest in the relevant associate.

 GOODWILL - Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary or businesses represents the excess of 

the cost of acquisition over the group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifi able assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities of the subsidiary or businesses recognised at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially 

recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment 

losses. 

 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the group’s cash-generating units 

expected to benefi t from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has 

been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the 

unit may be impaired If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount 

of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated fi rst to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to 

the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset 

in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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 On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profi t 

or loss on disposal.

 The group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described under “Associates” 

above.

 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

 Properties in the course of construction for production, rental or administrative purposes, or for purposes 

not yet determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional 

fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the group’s accounting 

policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the 

assets are ready for their intended use.

 Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost, other than buildings, dam and other structures under 

construction, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

  Useful lives

 Buildings 12 to 25 years

 Heat pipes 25 to 50 years

 Dam and other structures 25 to 50 years

 Generators and machinery 12 to 25 years

 Offi ce equipment 3 to 5 years

 Computers 1 to 5 years

 Motor vehicles 5 years

 The estimated useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any 

changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

 The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined 

as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in 

the profi t and loss statement.

 IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL - At each balance sheet date, the group 

reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those 

assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 

is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to 

estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the 

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 Intangible assets with indefi nite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 

impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 

the estimated future cash fl ows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 

refl ects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to the asset.
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 If the recoverable amount of an asset (cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 

impairment loss is recognised immediately in the profi t and loss statement.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating 

unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 

amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 

been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in the profi t and loss statement, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 

amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

 PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as 

a result of a past event, it is probable that the group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 

estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 

present obligation at the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 

obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash fl ows estimated to settle the present obligation, 

its carrying amount is the present value of those cash fl ows.

 When some or all of the economic benefi ts required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 

from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 

received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

 GOVERNMENT GRANTS - Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that 

the group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be received. Government 

grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the costs for which they 

are intended to compensate on a systematic basis.

 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS - The group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees.  

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non market-

based vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-

settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the 

group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting 

conditions.

 Fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The expected life used in the model has 

been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferrability, exercise 

restrictions and behavioural considerations

 REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 

receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

 Sale of goods

 Revenue earned from supply of electricity, heat and steam is recognised when they are supplied to 

customers based on basic tariffs. Revenue from additional tariffs which is payable by the state Power 

Bureau, which can only be determined reliably at the end of each calendar year, is recognised in the profi t 

and loss statement when determined.
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 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfi ed:

  the company has transferred to the buyer the signifi cant risks and rewards of ownership of the 

goods;

  the company retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

  it is probable that the economic benefi ts associated with the transaction will fl ow to the entity; and

  the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

 Interest income

 Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 

interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through 

expected life of that fi nancial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

 Dividend income

 Dividend income from subsidiaries and associates is recognised when the right to receive payment has 

been established.

 BORROWING COSTS - Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 

of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 

intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 

ready for their intended use or sale.

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profi t and loss statement in the period in which they are 

incurred.

 RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defi ned contribution retirement benefi t plans are charged 

as an expense as they fall due. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefi t schemes, such as 

the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to defi ned contribution plans where 

the group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defi ned contribution retirement 

benefi t plan.

 EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they 

accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services 

rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

 INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profi t for the year.  Taxable profi t differs from profi t as 

reported in the profi t and loss statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable 

or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible.  The group’s 

liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted in countries where the company and subsidiaries operate by the balance sheet date.
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 Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 

fi nancial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profi t, and are 

accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for 

all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profi ts will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such 

assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 

recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 

neither the taxable profi t nor the accounting profi t.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries 

and associates, except where the group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is 

probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that suffi cient taxable profi ts will be available to allow all or part of the 

asset to be recovered.

 Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled 

or the asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 

by the balance sheet date.  Deferred tax is charged or credited to profi t and loss statement, except when 

it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in 

equity.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 

assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 

authority and the group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

 Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profi t and loss statement, except 

when they relate to items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the tax is also recognised 

directly in equity, or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a 

business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess 

of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities over cost.

 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual fi nancial statements of each 

group entity are measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 

entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated fi nancial statements of the group and the balance 

sheet of the company are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of the company, 

and the presentation currency for the consolidated fi nancial statements.

 In preparing the fi nancial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the 

entity’s functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. 

At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 

prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in 

foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.



ASIA POWER CORPORATION LIMITED       Annual Report 2007

58

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items 

are included in profi t and loss statement for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation 

of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profi t and loss statement for the period except 

for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are 

recognised directly in equity. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is 

also recognised directly in equity.

 For the purpose of presenting consolidated fi nancial statements, the assets and liabilities of the group’s 

foreign operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Singapore dollars using exchange rates 

prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at 

the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fl uctuated signifi cantly during that period, 

in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if 

any, are classifi ed as equity and transferred to the group’s translation reserve. Such translation differences 

are recognised in profi t and loss statement in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets 

and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

 In the application of the group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is 

required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 

based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ 

from these estimates.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that 

period, or in the period of the revision and future periods, if the revision affects both current and future 

periods.

 (i) Critical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies

  Judgement made by management in the application of FRSs that has a signifi cant effect on the 

fi nancial statements and in arriving at estimates with a signifi cant risk of material adjustment in the 

next fi nancial year is discussed below:

  Leasehold prepayments

  The leasehold prepayments represent land use rights situated in the People’s Republic of China. 

Leasehold prepayments of $2,541,000 (2006 : $2,136,000) capitalised and disclosed in Note 20 

to the fi nancial statements were in the process of being approved by the relevant government 

authorities. Management is confi dent that the land use rights will be approved by the government 

authorities in the next two years.
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 (ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

  The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 

the balance sheet date that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year, are discussed below:

  Impairment of investments and fi nancial assets

  The group follows the guidance of FRS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 

on determining when an investment or fi nancial asset is other than temporarily impaired. This 

determination requires signifi cant judgement, and the group evaluates, among other factors, the 

duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment or fi nancial asset is less than its cost; 

and the fi nancial health of and near-term business outlook for the investment of fi nancial asset, 

including factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational 

and fi nancing cash fl ow.

  Allowance for bad and doubtful debts

  The group makes allowances for bad and doubtful debts based on an assessment of the 

recoverability of trade and other receivables. Allowances are applied to these receivables where 

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be recoverable. The 

identifi cation of bad and doubtful debts require the use of judgements and estimates. Where the 

expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact carrying value of 

receivables and doubtful debts expenses in the year in which such estimate has been changed. 

The carrying value of trade and other receivables as at December 31, 2007 is $22,120,000 (2006 : 

$24,793,000) and $7,381,000 (2006 : $11,957,000) respectively.

  Recoverability of investments in subsidiaries

  The management of the company performs impairment assessment of the recoverable amount 

of the investments in subsidiaries at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any 

indication that a subsidiary is impaired. In assessing whether there is any indication that a subsidiary 

may be impaired, management had to estimate the future cash fl ows expected to arise from the 

cash-generating unit using a discount rate to calculate the present value.  The carrying amount of 

investments in subsidiaries at balance sheet date was $53,537,000 (2006 : $54,617,000).

  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

  Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 

lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these assets to be within 1 to 50 years. The carrying 

amounts of the group’s property, plant and equipment as at December 31, 2007 were $117,128,000 

(2006 : $116,849,000). Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments 

could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future 

depreciation charges could be revised.
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 (ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

  Impairment of goodwill

  Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimate of the value in use of the cash-

generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the entity 

to estimate the future cash fl ows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable 

discount rate in order to calculate present value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the balance 

sheet date was $18,123,000 (2006 : $18,123,000) . There is no impairment loss recognised for the 

year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006.

  Income taxes

  The group has exposure to income taxes in a few jurisdictions. Signifi cant judgement is involved 

in determining the group wide provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and 

computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of 

business. The group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates on whether 

additional taxes will be due. Where the fi nal tax outcome of these matters is different from the 

amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 

provisions in the period in which such determination is made. The carrying amount of the group’s tax 

payables at December 31, 2007 was $1,645,000 (2006 : $829,000).
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 (a) Categories of fi nancial instruments

  The following table sets out the fi nancial instruments as at the balance sheet date:

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets

Fair value through profi t or loss (FVTPL):

 Held for trading investments 99 46 99 46

Held-to-maturity investments:

 Held-to-maturity investments – 7,840 – 7,840

 Non-current investments held-for-sale 1,273 – 1,273 –

Available for sales fi nancial assets 6,567 – 6,567 –

Loans and receivables:

 Trade receivables 22,120 24,793 – –

 Other receivables 6,842 10,773 4,449 4,315

Cash and bank balances 28,152 24,205 1,308 5,429

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost:

 Trade payables 24,088 22,622 –    –     

 Other payables 29,704 44,613 16,089 25,402

 Bank loan 52,737 55,213 –     –     

 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives

  The group does not use any derivative fi nancial instruments such as foreign exchange contracts to 

hedge certain exposures.

  The group also does not hold or issue derivative fi nancial instruments for speculative purposes.

  There has been no change to the group’s exposure to these fi nancial risks or the manner in which 

it manages and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis 

indicated below.

  (i) Foreign exchange risk management

   The group has exposure to foreign currency risk as a result of its operations in the People’s 

Republic of China and fi xed deposits in foreign currencies. The currencies giving rise to this 

risk is primarily United States dollar and Chinese renminbi.
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 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

  (i) Foreign exchange risk management (Cont’d)

   The company has a number of investments in foreign subsidiaries, whose net assets are 

exposed to currency translation risk. Currency exposure to the net assets of the group’s 

subsidiaries is managed primarily through borrowings denominated in the related foreign 

currencies.

   At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary liabilities 

denominated in currencies other than the group’s functional currency are as follows:

Group Company
Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Hong Kong 

 dollars –    –    –    666 –    –    –    666

Renminbi –    8,164 2,382 –    2,119 9,849 4,441 3,612

US dollars –    –    141 4,504 13,229 14,778 –    4,387

   Foreign currency sensitivity analysis is not presented as the impact of the movement in the 

relevant foreign currency rates against the functional currency is not material to the Group.

  (ii) Interest rate risk management

   The group’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to the group’s fi xed 

deposits with banks and debt obligations. The group does not use derivative fi nancial 

instruments to hedge its risk and the details of the group’s interest rate exposure is disclosed 

in Note 22 to the fi nancial statements.

  (iii) Equity price risk management

   The group is exposed to equity risks arising from equity investments classifi ed as held-for-

trading investments. The group does not actively trade these equity investments.

   Further details of these equity investments can be found in Note 10 to the fi nancial 

statements.  Management does not expect signifi cant impact arising from equity price risks 

as the investments are not signifi cant to the group.

  (iv) Credit risk management

   Credit risk is the potential fi nancial loss resulting from the failure of a customer or a 

counterparty to settle its fi nancial and contractual obligations to the group, as and when they 

fall due.

   The group has established credit limits for customers and monitors their balances.
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 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

  (iv) Credit risk management (Cont’d)

   At balance sheet date, there is no signifi cant concentration of credit risk except for the 

trade balances due from major customers amounting to $24,001,474/RMB121,834,893) 

(2006 : $2,740,661/RMB13,982,963).

   Cash and fi xed deposits are placed with creditworthy banks and fi nancial institutions which 

are regulated.

  (v) Liquidity risk management

   The group monitors its liquidity risk and debt maturity portfolio and maintains suffi cient cash 

and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to fi nance the group’s operations, 

debt obligations and to mitigate the effects of fl uctuations in cash fl ows. In addition, the group 

strives to maintain available banking facilities of a reasonable level to its overall debt position.

   Liquidity risk analysis

   Non-derivative fi nancial liabilities

   The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative fi nancial 

liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash fl ows of fi nancial 

liabilities based on the earliest date on which the group and the company can be required to 

pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash fl ows.

On demand 
or within 1 

year  

Within 
2 to 5 
years

After 
5 years Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2007

Group

Trade payables 24,088 –     –     24,088

Other payables 29,704 –     –     29,704

Bank loans 7,427 45,310 –     52,737

61,219 45,310 –     106,529

Company

Other payables 16,089 –     –     16,089
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 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

  (v) Liquidity risk management (Cont’d)

On demand 
or within 1 

year
Within 2 to 5 

years 
After 

5 years   Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2006

Group

Trade payables 22,622 –     –     22,622

Other payables 44,613 –     –     44,613

Bank loans 16,013 39,200 –     55,213

83,248 39,200 –     122,448

Company

Other payables 25,402 –     –      25,402

  (vi) Fair values of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities

   The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables and 

payables approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short term maturity of 

these fi nancial instruments.  The fair values of other classes of fi nancial assets and liabilities 

are disclosed in the respective notes to fi nancial statements.

   Fair values of fi nancial assets traded on active liquid markets are determined with reference to 

quoted market prices.

  (vii) Business risk management

   During the fi nancial year ended December 31, 2007, purchase of coals and other fuels 

from suppliers amounted to $49,072,000/RMB249,095,000 (2006 : $52,035,000 /

RMB261,879,000) which accounted for approximately 51 % (2006 : 56%) of the group’s 

total cost of sales. As at December 31, 2007, trade payables to these coal suppliers were 

negotiated on a case-by-case basis. Although the group believes that it maintains good 

relationships with its suppliers, there can be no assurance that these suppliers will continue 

to sell to the group on normal commercial terms as and when needed. In the event that the 

suppliers cease to sell to the group or when there are signifi cant fl uctuations in coal prices, 

the group’s revenue and profi tability will be adversely affected.

   Business risk sensitivity

   If the cost of coals and other fuels had increased or decreased by 5% (2006 : 5%) and all 

other variables held constant, the group’s profi t for the year ended December 31, 2007 would 

increase/decrease by $2,454,000 (2006 : increase/decrease by $2,602,000). 
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

  (vii) Business risk management (Cont’d)

   The normal trading activities of the power plant operations depend to a signifi cant extent on 

the supply of electricity to the following major provincial power bureaus or corporations:

   (a) Heilongjiang Electric Power Corporation;

   (b) Jiangsu Electric Power Corporation;

   (c) Neijiang Electric Power Industry Bureau; and

   (d) Sichuan Electric Power Corporation.

 (c) Capital risk management policies and objectives

  The group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the group will be able to continue as a going 

concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity 

balance.

  The capital structure of the group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 

22 to the fi nancial statements, cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of 

the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in relevant notes 

to fi nancial statements.

  The group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2006.

5 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 Related parties are entities with common direct or indirect shareholders and/or directors. Parties are 

considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise signifi cant infl uence 

over the other party in making fi nancial and operating decisions.  

 Some of the group’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on 

the basis determined between the parties is refl ected in these fi nancial statements. The balances are 

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

 (a) Directors

  Directors also participate in the Asia Power Share Option Scheme. There were 2,800,000 share 

options (2006 : Nil) granted to the directors during the current fi nancial year. The share options 

granted were on the same terms and conditions as those offered to other employees of the 

company as described in Note 33. Since commencement of the Scheme to December 31, 2007, 

11,885,924 (2006 : 9,085,924) share options have been granted to the directors of the company.
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5 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 (b) Compensation of directors and key management personnel

  The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as 

follows:

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Short-term benefi ts 1,419 1,470

Post-employment benefi ts 41 53

Share-based payment 164 151

1,624 1,674

 (c) Acquisition of equity-interest from minority interest

  In December 2007, the group acquired additional equity interest of 30% from the minority 

shareholders of Asia Power (Yunxian) Hydroelectiricity Co., Ltd, a subsidiary, for a consideration of 

$473,000.

  In 2006, the group acquired additional equity interest of 30% from the minority shareholders 

of Sichuan Anning River Energy Development Co., Ltd, a subsidiary, for a consideration of $16.7 

million.

6 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fixed deposits with banks –     5,123 –   5,123

Cash in hand 32 11 1 1

Cash at bank 28,120 19,071 1,307 305

28,152 24,205 1,308 5,429

 Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the group and company and short-term bank deposits 

with an original maturity of three months or less. The carrying amounts of these assets approximate their 

fair values.

 Fixed deposits of the group and company bear interest at an average rate of 4.9% (2006 : 4.5%) per 

annum. The tenure of the fi xed deposits for prior year was 7 days. Interest rates are re-priced within one 

year.
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6 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Cont’d)

 Signifi cant cash and bank balances of the group and company that are not denominated in the functional 

currencies of the respective entities are as follows:

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Hong Kong dollars – 666 –    666

United States dollars 141 4,504 –    4,387

7 TRADE RECEIVABLES

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables 24,009 24,876 –    –    

Allowance for doubtful receivables (1,889) (83) –    –    

22,120 24,793 –    –    

 The average credit period on sale of goods is 66 days (2006 : 84 days).

 The trade receivables of the group are denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities.

 The table below is an analysis of trade receivables as at 31 December:

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Not past due and not impaired 17,629 21,796 –     –     

Past due but not impaired (i) 3,470 – –     –     

21,099 21,796 –     –     

Impaired receivables – collectively assessed (ii) 2,910 3,080 –     –     

Less: Provision for impairment (1,889) (83) –     –     

1,021 2,997 –     –     
 
Total trade receivables, net 22,120 24,793 –     –     

(i) Aging of receivables that are past due 

  but not impaired

  < 3 months 3,123 –     –     –     

  3 months to 6 months 347 –     –     –     

3,470 –     –     –     

 (ii) These amounts are stated before any deduction for impairment losses.
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7 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

 Movement in allowance for doubtful debts:

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of the year 83 69

Amounts recovered during the year (16) – 

Exchange differences (9) 3

Increase in allowance recognised in profi t and loss statement 1,831 11

Balance at end of the year 1,889 83

8 OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Subsidiaries –    –     2,298 5,330

Allowance for doubtful receivables –    –     (239) (1,718)

–    –     2,059 3,612

Recoverables from third parties (1) 788 686 –    –    

Allowance for doubtful receivables (788) (686) –    –    

–    –     –    –    

Associates (Note 5) –    797 –    –    

Loan receivables from third party (2) 1,970 –    –    –    

Advance to employees 2 207 –    –    

Deposits 2,218 12 8 8

Prepayments 539 1,184 6 6

Other receivables (3) 2,652 9,757 2,382 695

7,381 11,957 4,455 4,321

 Amount due from subsidiaries and associates are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

 (1)  The directors are of the view that the recoverables from third parties were not recoverable and 

hence, full allowance for doubtful debts was provided. 

 (2)  The interest rate on the loan receivables from third party is at 10% (2006 : Nil%) per annum. The 

loan receivables are not past due and not impaired.

 (3)  There is no fi xed repayment period for the other receivables from third parties of which $683,000 is 

past due and the balance of $1,969,000 is not past due.  The directors are of the view that these 

receivables are not impaired and are recoverable. 
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8 OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

 Movement in allowance for non-trade doubtful debts:

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of the year 686 721 1,718 1,363

Amount recovered during the year –  –  (1,479) –    

Increase in allowance recognised in profi t and 

 loss statement 99 –  –    355 

Exchange differences 3 (35) –    –    

Balance at end of the year 788 686 239 1,718

 Signifi cant other receivables of the group and company that are not denominated in the functional 

currencies of the respective entities are as follows:

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Chinese renminbi 2,382 –    4,441 3,612

9 INVENTORIES

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Coal 1,739 1,671 –    –    

Fuel oil 273 332 –    –    

Materials and spare parts 2,978 2,181 –    –    

Work-in-progress 126 236 –    –    

Finished goods 649 25 –    –    

5,765 4,445 –    –    

10 HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS

Group and Company
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Quoted equity investments, at fair value 99 46

 The fair values of the quoted equity investments are based on closing quoted market prices on the last 

market day of the fi nancial year.
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11 NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS HELD-FOR-SALE

 The directors have resolved to dispose 4% of the held-to-maturity investments to a third party.  At 

December 31, 2007, the non-current investments held-for-sale is measured at amortised cost less costs to 

sell.  The purchase consideration is approximately $1,284,000 (RMB6,520,000).

12 PROPERTY HELD FOR SALE

 The directors have resolved to dispose of one of the group’s factory held by the newly acquired subsidiary.  

At December 31, 2006, the property held-for-sale is measured at the lower of the asset’s carrying amount 

and fair value less costs to sell. The property has been sold during the year for $510,000 (RMB2,601,000).

13 SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 57,988 56,629

Impairment losses (4,451)  (2,012)

53,537 54,617

 Additional impairment losses were recognised for loss making subsidiaries during the year which the 

recoverable amounts were lower than the carrying amounts of the cost of investments. 

 Details of the company’s signifi cant subsidiaries at December 31, 2007 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Country of 
incorporation/ 

operation

Proportion of 
ownership 

interest  Principal activities
2007 2006

% %

Heilongjiang Asiapower Xinbao 

 Heating & Power Co., Ltd (1)

People’s 

Republic of 

China

51 51  Owning, managing and operating 

 a coal fi red power plant to 

 generate and sell electric power, 

 heat and steam

Asia Power (Neijiang) 

 Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd. (1)

People’s 

Republic of 

China

60 60  Owning, managing and operating 

 a hydro- power plant

Asia Power (Shanghai) 

 Management Consulting 

 Co., Ltd (5)

People’s 

Republic of 

China

100 100  Provision of power related 

 business consultancy and 

 management services

Asia Power (Shenzhen) 

 Management Consulting 

 Co., Ltd (2)

People’s 

Republic of 

China

100 100  Provision of power related 

 business consultancy and 

 management services

Asia Hydro Power Investment 

 Pte Ltd (3)

Singapore 51 51  Investment holding
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13 SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Name of subsidiary

Country of 
incorporation/ 

operation

Proportion of 
ownership 

interest  Principal activities
2007 2006

% %

Sichuan Anning River Energy 

 Development Co., Ltd (1) 

 [Subsidiary of Asia Power 

 (Neijiang) Hydroelectricity 

 Co., Ltd]

People’s 

Republic of 

China

51 51  Owning, managing and operating 

 a hydro- power plant

Asia Power (Chengdu) 

 Investment Management 

 Co., Ltd (2)

People’s 

Republic of 

China

100 100  Provision of power related 

 business consultancy and 

 management services

Asia Power (Yunxian) 

 Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd (2) (4) 

 [Subsidiary of Asia Hydro 

 Power Investment Pte Ltd]

People’s 

Republic of 

China

94 64  Owning, managing and operating 

 a hydro-power plant

Asia Power (Leibo) 

 Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd (1) (6) 

 (Subsidiary of Asia Hydro 

 Power Investment Pte Ltd)

People’s 

Republic of 

China

40.05 40.05  Owning, managing and operating 

 a hydro- power plant

Asia Power Technology 

 Investment Limited (2)

British Virgin 

Island

100 100  Investment holding

APC Hydro Power (Investment) 

 Pte Ltd (3)

Singapore 100 100  Investment holding

Rich Bvild Investment Limited (2) British Virgin 

Island

60 60  Investment holding

JAZ Technology Development 

 (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (1) 

 (Subsidiary of Rich Bvild 

 Investment Limited)

People’s 

Republic of 

China

60 60  Provision of power automation 

 system and instruments

Great Energy Development 

 Limited (2)

British Virgin 

Island

100 100  Investment holding

Yang Pu Li Yuan Power 

 Development Co., Ltd (2) 

 (Subsidiary of Great Energy 

 Development Limited)

People’s 

Republic of 

China

100 100  Development and investment 

 in electrical energy industry; 

 development and sale of 

 electrical equipment; and 

 investment in information 

 and services relating to the 

 electrical energy industry

 (1) Audited by overseas practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for consolidation purposes.

 (2) Audited by Deloitte & Touche, Singapore for consolidation purposes.

 (3) Audited by Deloitte & Touche, Singapore.
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13 SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

 (4) During the fi nancial year, an additional 30% equity interest of this company was acquired by Asia Power (Chengdu) 

Investment Management Co., Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Asia Power Corporation Limited. This increased the 

group’s effective equity interest in the company to 94%. 

 (5) The subsidiary is in the process of liquidation in 2007 and is not material and have not been audited.

 (6) Asia Power (Leibo) Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd (“Leibo”) was consolidated as a subsidiary as the group has obtained majority 

of the representation of the board of directors and is able to exercise control over the fi nancial and operating policies of 

Leibo.

14 ASSOCIATES

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 18,866 18,866 8,791 8,791

Share of post-acquisition profi ts and reserves 

 net of dividend received 4,649 2,764 –    –    

23,515 21,630 8,791 8,791

 Details of the group’s signifi cant associates at December 31, 2007 are as follows:

 

Name of associate

Country of 
incorporation/ 

operation    

Proportion of 
ownership 

interest
 Principal 
 activities

2007 2006 
% %

Changzhou Suyuan Electric Power 

 Co., Ltd (1)

People’s Republic 

of China

25 25  Owning, managing and 

 operation of natural gas 

 power plant

Changzhou Huayuan Electric Power 

 Co., Ltd (1)

People’s Republic 

of China

25 25  Owning, managing and 

 operation of natural gas 

 power plant

Chongqing Yujiankou Hydroelectricity 

 Co., Ltd (1)

People’s Republic 

of China

31.6 31.6  Owning, managing 

 and operating of a 

 hydro-power 

 electricity plant

 (1) Audited by overseas practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmastu for consolidation purposes.
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14 ASSOCIATES (Cont’d)

 Summarised fi nancial information in respect of the group’s associates is set out below:

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Total assets 171,983 191,212

Total liabilities (91,118) (117,212)

Net assets 80,865 74,000

Group’s share of associates’ net assets 22,101 20,216

Goodwill 1,414 1,414

23,515 21,630

Revenue  39,308 31,989

Profi t for the year 16,979 12,266

Group’s share of associates’ profi t for the year 4,432 4,594

15 HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS

Group and Company
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Unquoted debt securities, at amortised cost –    7,840

 The unquoted debt securities are acquired from a third party and yield a fi xed guarantee return of Nil% 

(2006 : 15%) per annum. The effective interest rate of the investments in unquoted debt securities is Nil % 

(2006 : 10.9%) per annum and matures in May 2009.

 The directors have resolved to dispose 4% of the held-to-maturity investments to a third party. These 

investments are reclassifi ed as non-current investments held-for-sale disclosed in Note 11 to the fi nancial 

statements. Consequently, the remaining investments are reclassifi ed as available-for-sale investments as 

disclosed in Note 16, in accordance with the accounting policies of held-to-maturity investments in Note 2 

to the fi nancial statements.

 The held-to-maturity investments of the group and company are denominated in Chinese renminbi.

16 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

Group and Company
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Unquoted debt securities, at fair value 6,567 –

 The investments in unquoted debt securities have effective interest rate of 10.9% (2006 : Nil%) per annum 

and matures in May 2009.

 The fair values of unquoted debt securities are estimated using discounted cash fl ow model.
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17 GOODWILL

Group
$’000

Cost and Carrying Amount:

At January 1, 2006 619

Exchange difference (30)

Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34) 17,534

At December 31, 2006 and 2007 18,123

 Goodwill acquired in subsidiaries is allocated at acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs”) that are 

expected to benefi t from that business combination. Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying 

amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Sichuan Anning River Energy Development Co., Ltd (single CGU) 12,664 12,664

JAZ Technology Development (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (single CGU) 5,459  5,459

18,123 18,123

 The group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill 

might be impaired.  No impairment loss has been recognised in the profi t and loss statement in current and 

previous fi nancial years.

 Discounted cash fl ow (“DCF”) analysis is performed to determine the fair value of the assets under review.  

They key assumptions for the DCF calculations are those relating to the discount rate and expected 

changes to service prices and costs during the period. Management estimates discount rates using rates 

that refl ect current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to the assets 

under review. Changes in service prices and costs are based on past practices and expectations of future 

changes in the market.

 The group prepares cash fl ow forecasts derived form the most recent fi nancial budget approved by 

management and extrapolates cash fl ows for the remaining business license period using a growth rate of 

Nil%.

 The rate used to discount the forecast cash fl ows from the subsidiaries is at 8% (2006 : 8%).

18 OTHER ASSET

Group and Company
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Club membership, at cost 10 10

 The company did not amortise the club membership over the estimated useful life. The amortisation of the 

club membership is not expected to be material to the fi nancial statements.
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19 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings
Heat 
pipes

Dam and 
other 

structures

Generators 
and 

machinery
Offi ce 

equipment Computers
Motor 

vehicles

Construction–
 in–

progress  Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Cost:

 At January 1, 2006 11,627 16,321 50,746 66,683 986 1,036 2,273 467 150,139

 Additions 203 –     1,327 756 137 12 398 11,009 13,842

 Acquisition of 

  subsidiary –     –     44 228 94 –    50 20 436

 Disposals (61) –     –     (629) (79) (8) (388) (2,722) (3,887)

Reclassifi cations (1,156) –     565 627 –    (36) –    – –

 Transfer from CIP –     3,015 –     4,442 –    120 2 (7,579) –

 Exchange realignment (550) (561)  (2,490)  (3,295) (49) (51) (113) (55) (7,164)

 At December 31, 

  2006 10,063 18,775 50,192 68,812 1,089 1,073 2,222   1,140 153,366

 Additions 9 2,748 435 4,367 140 13 516 514 8,742

 Disposals (57) –     –     (2,043) –    –    (473) –     (2,573)

 Exchange realignment (525) 714 254 307 5 5 (46) (166) 548

 At December 31, 

  2007   9,490 22,237 50,881 71,443 1,234 1,091 2,219 1,488 160,083

Accumulated 

 depreciation:

 At January 1, 2006 1,864 429 2,888 21,681 618 946 1,330 –     29,756

 Depreciation charge 

  for the year 470 1,499 1,050 4,725 120 88 451 –     8,403

 Acquisition of 

  subsidiary –     –     –     53 26 –    –    –     79

 Disposals (14) –     –     (56) (14) (8) (348) –     (440)

 Exchange realignment (97) 231 (154) (1,078) (31) (47)   (105) –     (1,281)

 At December 31, 

  2006 2,223 2,159 3,784 25,325 719 979 1,328 –     36,517

 Depreciation charge 

  for the year 583 1,579 1,022 4,468 159 104 285 – 8,200

 Disposals (44) – – (1,576) – – (295) – (1,915)

 Exchange realignment 8 2 14 114 4 4 7 – 153

 At December 31, 

  2007   2,770 3,740 4,820 28,331 882 1,087 1,325 – 42,955

Carrying amount:

 At December 31, 

  2007   6,720 18,497 46,061 43,112 352 4 894 1,488 117,128

 At December 31, 

  2006   7,840 16,616 46,408 43,487 370 94 894   1,140 116,849
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19 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Offi ce 
equipment Computers Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Company

Cost:

 At January 1, 2006 72 10 82

 Additions 1 – 1

 At December 31, 2006 73 10 83

 Additions – 5 5

 At December 31, 2007 73 15 88

Accumulated depreciation:

 At January 1, 2006 35 8 43

 Depreciation 15 2 17

 At December 31, 2006 50 10 60

 Depreciation 14 5 19

 At December 31, 2007 64 15 79

Carrying amount:

 At December 31, 2007 9 – 9

 At December 31, 2006 23 – 23

 Property, plant and equipment of the group with carrying amount of $64,680,000 (2006 : $10,821,000) are 

pledged as security for bank loans disclosed in Note 22 to the fi nancial statements.

20 LEASEHOLD PREPAYMENTS

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Leasehold prepayments 13,776 13,579

Less: Current portion included as prepayments (Note 8) (290) (281)

13,486 13,298

Movement in leasehold prepayments:

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 13,579 11,187

Additions 394 3,083

Amortisation (267) (150)

Exchange realignment 70 (541)

Balance at end of year 13,776 13,579
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20 LEASEHOLD PREPAYMENTS (Cont’d)

 The leasehold prepayments represent land use rights situated in the People’s Republic of China. Leasehold 

prepayments of $2,541,000 (2006 : $2,136,000) were in the process of being approved by the relevant 

government authorities as at December 31, 2007.  

 Leasehold prepayments with a carrying amount of $13,776,000 (2006 : $580,000) are pledged as security 

for bank loans as disclosed in Note 22 to the fi nancial statements.

 Amortisation is provided to write off the leasehold prepayments for land over a period of 50 years.

21 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deferred tax assets 801 638 – –

Deferred tax liabilities – (72) – (72)

 The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the company and the group 

and the movements during the year:

Accelerated 
(tax) book 

depreciation
Tax 

losses Others Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

At January 1, 2006 (103) –  413 310

Charge (Credit) to profi t and loss statement 

 for the year (Note 29) 397 119 (241) 275

Exchange differences 5 (2) (22) (19)

At December 31, 2006 299 117 150 566

Charge (Credit) to profi t and loss statement 

 for the year (Note 29) (40) 194 79 233

Exchange differences 2 – – 2

At December 31, 2007 261 311 229 801

Company

At January 1, 2006 –  –  –  –  

Charge to profi t and loss statement for the 

 year –  –  72 72

At December 31, 2006 –  –  72 72

Credit to profi t and loss statement for the year –  –  (72) (72)

At December 31, 2007 –  –  –  –  
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22 LONG-TERM BANK LOANS

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Secured 52,737 6,605

Unsecured –     48,608

52,737 55,213

Payable within a year (7,427) (16,013)

Payable after a year but within 5 years 45,310 39,200

 The bank loans are secured by property, plant and equipment (Note 19) and leasehold prepayments (Note 

20).  The secured loans have repayment period between January 2008 and April 2013.

 The carrying amount of bank loans approximate its fair value based on the borrowing rates currently 

available for bank loans with similar terms and maturity and the interest rates approximate the market 

interest rates.

 The bank loans bear fi xed interest rates as follows: 

Group
2007 2006

Secured 6.2% to 10.9% 5.6% to 6.7%

Unsecured – 6.0% to 7.4%

The average effective interest rates paid were as follows:

Group
2007 2006

Secured 5.9% to 7.8% 5.3% to 6.3%

Unsecured – 4.5% to 6.9%

 The bank loans of the group are denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities.
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23 OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Related parties (Note 5) –     7,170 –     –     

Minority shareholders (Note 5) 1,576     8,164 –     8,164

Subsidiaries –     –     15,348 16,635

Associates (Note 5) 3,940 5,880 –     –     

Accrued expenses 1,387 3,583 613 603

Other payables 7,060 8,771 –     –     

Value added tax payable 2,842 2,062 –     –     

Deposits from third parties 7,983 6,746 128 –     

Dividend payable 1,318 1,023 –     –     

Staff benefi t payable 3,598 1,214 –     –     

29,704 44,613 16,089 25,402

 Amount due to related parties, associates and subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 

demand.

 Signifi cant other payables of the group and company that are not denominated in the functional currencies 

of the respective entities are as follows:

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Chinese renminbi –     8,164 2,119 9,849

United States dollar –     –     13,229 14,778

24 SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

Number of ordinary shares $’000 $’000

Issued and fully paid:

 At beginning of year 354,578,010 352,151,010 37,861 29,237

 Exercise of share options 10,432,000 2,427,000 1,408 394

 Movement from exercised options –        –        188 –      

 Transfer from share premium account –        –        –     8,230

 At end of the year 365,010,010 354,578,010 39,457 37,861

 Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends.

 As a result of the Singapore Companies (Amendment) Act 2005 which came into effect on January 30, 

2006, the concept of authorised share capital and par value has been abolished.  
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25 RESERVES

 Statutory reserve

 The subsidiaries and associates follow the accounting principles and relevant fi nancial regulations of the 

People’s Republic of China (“PRC GAAP”) applicable to Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprises in the 

preparation of the accounting records and statutory fi nancial statements.

 Appropriation to the statutory reserve by the Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise is determined at the 

discretion of the board of directors based on the profi t arrived all in accordance with PRC GAAP for each 

year.

 The profi t arrived at must be set-off against any accumulated losses sustained by the subsidiaries and 

associates in prior years, before allocation is made to the statutory reserve. Appropriation to the subsidiary 

reserve must be made before distribution of dividends to shareholders. The appropriation is required until 

the statutory reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital.  This statutory reserve is not distributable in the 

form of cash dividends.

 Enterprise development reserve

 The Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise is required to set aside an enterprise development reserve 

for future development projects in accordance with its articles of association. Appropriation to the enterprise 

development reserve must be made before distribution of dividends to shareholders. This enterprise 

development reserve is not distributable in the form of cash dividends.

 Currency translation reserve

 The currency translation reserve account comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the 

translation of the fi nancial statements of foreign operations. 

26 REVENUE

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Sale of electricity 88,101 87,680

Sale of heat and steam 30,652 28,574

Sales of products 10,452 4,042

Others 615 540

Dividend income from quoted equity investments 16 2

129,836 120,838
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27 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 12 

Gain on disposal of property held-for-sale 31 –     

Interest income from bank 991 793

Interest income from unquoted debt securities 693 412

Government grant and subsidy 2,354 1,838

Gain on disposal of associates –     9,980

Others 297 651

4,366 13,686

28 FINANCE COSTS

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Interest expenses to outside parties 4,738 4,051

29 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Current

 Singapore 14 30

 Overseas 2,530 1,568

Overprovision in prior years (42) –     

2,502 1,598

Deferred tax

 Singapore (72) 72

 Overseas (161) (347)

(233) (275)

Income tax expense for the year 2,269 1,323

 Domestic income tax is calculated at 18% (2006 : 20%) of the estimated assessable profi t for the year.  

Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Profi t before tax 23,229 33,139

Less: share of profi t of associates (4,432) (4,594)

18,797 28,545
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29 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 18% (2006 : 20%) 3,383 5,709

Tax effect on income not taxable (2,116) (2,788)

Tax effect of utilisation of tax benefi ts not previously recognised –     (783)

Overprovision in prior years (42) –     

Effect of change in tax rates –     19

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions 1,041 (909)

Others 3 75

Tax expenses for the year 2,269 1,323

30 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

 Profi t for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Directors’ remuneration:

 - of the company 898 1,200

 - of the subsidiaries –    73

Total directors’ remuneration 898 1,273

Directors’ fees 304 221

Employee benefi ts expense (including directors’ remuneration):

Share-based payments 106    204

Defi ned contribution plans 2,961 2,874

Staff costs 20,430 24,332

Total employee benefi ts expense 23,497 27,410

Doubtful trade debts recovered (16) –      

Allowance for doubtful trade debts 1,831 11

Allowance for doubtful non-trade debts 99 –      

Foreign exchange adjustment losses 328 1,249

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8,200 8,403

Amortisation of leasehold prepayments 267 150

Cost of inventories included as expenses 60,892 54,887

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 297 –     

Audit fees:

 Paid to auditors of the company 164 154

 Paid to other auditors 264 332

 There is no non-audit fees paid to auditors of the company and other auditors.
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31 EARNINGS PER SHARE

 Basic earnings per share

 The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profi t attributable to shareholders of 

$12,272,000 (2006 : $19,880,000) and the weighted average number of 362,619,042 (2006 : 353,432,232) 

ordinary shares.

 Diluted earnings per share

 The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profi t attributable to shareholders of 

$12,272,000 (2006 : $19,880,000) and the weighted average number of 365,255,222 (2006 : 361,672,499) 

ordinary shares after adjusting for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

32 DIVIDENDS

 During the fi nancial year ended December 31, 2007, the company paid a fi nal dividend of $0.009 per 

ordinary share, tax exempt and a special dividend of $0.002 per ordinary share, tax exempt on the ordinary 

shares of the company totalling $3,986,000 in respect of the fi nancial year ended December 31, 2006.

 For the fi nancial year ended December 31, 2006, the company paid a fi nal dividend of $0.009 per ordinary 

share, tax exempt on the ordinary shares of the company totalling $3,183,000 in respect of the fi nancial 

year ended December 31, 2005.

 Subsequent to December 31, 2007, the directors proposed that a fi nal dividend of $0.009 per ordinary 

share, tax exempt and a special dividend of $0.002 per ordinary share be paid to shareholders.  The total 

estimated tax exempt dividend to be paid on the ordinary shares of the company is $4,015,000.  This 

dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been included 

as a liability in these fi nancial statements.  

33 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

 The Asia Power Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) of the company was approved and adopted by its 

members at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on October 19, 1999. The Scheme is administered by a 

Committee of Directors comprising Zhao Shuheng, Sha Guangwen and He Jun.

 Other information regarding the Scheme is set out below:

 (i) the exercise price of the options is determined by the average of the last dealt prices of the 

Company’s shares on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited for the three consecutive 

trading days preceding the date of grant of such options;

 (ii) the options granted expire after 5 years or 10 years from the dates of grant unless they are cancelled 

or have lapsed; 

 (iii) options may be exercised one year after the date of grant; and 
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33 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d)

 (iv) for options granted on August 8, 2007, the options may be exercised as follows:

  (a) 50% of the options may be exercised one year after the date of grant;

  (b) 80% of the options may be exercised two years after the date of grant; and

  (c) 100% of the options may be exercised three years after the date of grant.

 Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

Group and Company
2007 2006

Number of 
share 

options  

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price   

Number of 
share 

options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price  
’000 $ ’000 $

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 13,452 0.14 16,566 0.16

Exercised during the year (10,432) 0.13 (2,427) 0.16

Granted during the year 6,450 0.32 –     –  

Cancelled/Expired during the year (1,682) 0.20 (687) 0.14

Outstanding at the end of the year 7,788 0.28 13,452 0.14

Exercisable at the end of the year 7,788 13,452

 The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year was 

$0.36 (2006 : $0.34).  The options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average remaining 

contractual life of 8.3 years (2006 : 7.9 years).

 These fair values for share options granted during the year were calculated using The Black-Scholes pricing 

model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

2007 2006

Weighted average share price: $0.31 $0.13

Weighted average exercise price $0.32 $0.13 

Expected volatility 33.0% 43.0%

Expected life 1 year 1 year

Risk free rate 3.8% 3.1%

Expected dividend yield 1.6% 3.9%

 Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the company’s share price over 

the previous 1 year. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best 

estimate, for the effects of non transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

 The group and the company recognised total expenses of $106,000 (2006 : $204,000) related to equity-

settled share-based payment transactions during the year.
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34 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

 A segment is a distinguishable component of the group that is engaged either in providing products or 

services (business segment), or in providing products and services within a particular economic environment 

(geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other 

segments.

 Segment information is presented in respect of the group’s business and geographical segments.  The 

primary format, business segment, is based on the group’s management and internal reporting structure.

 Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those 

that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  Unallocated items mainly comprise interest-bearing liabilities, 

fi nance costs, taxation and corporate expenses.

 Interests in associates: Income from associates are allocated as they are specifi cally attributable to business 

segments, and correspondingly the interests in associates are included as segment assets of the group.   

 Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are 

expected to be used for more than one period.

 Business Segments

 The group comprises the following main business segments:

 Power plant operations : Owning, managing and operating power plants to generate and sell 

power, heat and steam.

 Power-related technology : Design, manufacture and assembly of computerised automation 

systems which are used for the regulation of electricity fl ow and 

protection of power grids.

 Investment holding and others : Holding of long-term investments and provision of power related 

business consultancy and management services.

 Geographical segments

 The group operates predominantly in the People’s Republic of China.



ASIA POWER CORPORATION LIMITED       Annual Report 2007

86

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007

34 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Power 
plant 

operation

Power– 
related 

technology

Investment 
holding 

and others Eliminations
Consolidated 

total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Year ended December 31, 
 2007

Revenue and expenses

Total revenue 118,753 10,452 8,546 (7,915) 129,836

Segment results 24,412 1,177 5,174 (7,228) 23,535

Finance costs –     –     –     –     (4,738)

Share of results of associates 4,432 –     –     –     4,432

Profi t before income tax 23,229

Income tax expense (2,269)

Net profi t for the year 20,960

Other information

Depreciation of property, plant 

 and equipment 7,964 77 159 –    8,200

Power plant 
operation  

Power– 
related 

technology

Investment 
holding and 

others    Eliminations
Consolidated 

total      
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Year ended December 31, 
 2006

Revenue and expenses

Total revenue 116,253 4,043 10,697 (10,155) 120,838

Segment results 25,420 290 20,733 (13,847) 32,596

Finance costs –     –     –     –     (4,051)

Share of results of associates 3,195 1,399 –     –     4,594

Profi t before income tax 33,139

Income tax expense (1,323)

31,816

Other information

Depreciation of property, plant 

 and equipment 8,253 36 114 –     8,403
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34 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Power 
plant 

operation  

Power– 
related 

technology

Investment 
holding and 

others    
Consolidated 

total      
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

As at December 31, 2007

Assets and liabilities

Segment assets 190,559 13,689 15,856 220,104

Interests in associates 23,515 –     –       23,515

Unallocated assets       801

Total assets 244,420

Segment liabilities 50,656 2,345 791 53,792

Unallocated liabilities   54,382

Total liabilities 108,174

Capital expenditure  33,136 947   8,729   42,812

As at December 31, 2006

Assets and liabilities

Segment assets 190,106 13,611 18,328 222,045

Interests in associates 21,630 –     –     21,630

Unallocated assets 638

Total assets 244,313

Segment liabilities 55,354 3,369 8,512 67,235

Unallocated liabilities 56,114

Total liabilities 123,349

Capital expenditure   32,850 941 6,848 40,639

35 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

 (a) Additional acquisition of subsidiary

  In June 2007, the group acquired additional equity interest of 30% in Asia Power (Yunxian) 

Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd (“APYH”), a subsidiary of Asia Hydro Power Investment Pte Ltd through 

another wholly-owned subsidiary, Asia Power (Chengdu) Investment Management Co., Ltd for a 

cash consideration of $473,000. Accordingly, the effective equity interest in APYH increases from 

64% to 94%.

 (b) Acquisition of subsidiary

  In June 2006, the group acquired 60% equity interest in Rich Bvild Investments Limited, which in 

turn holds 100% equity interest in JAZ Technology Development (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. The cash 

consideration of $8.5 million was paid. This transaction has been accounted for using the purchase 

method of accounting.
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35 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

 (b) Acquisition of subsidiary (Cont’d)

  In December 2006, the group acquired an additional equity interest of 30% in Sichuan Anning River 

Energy Development Co., Ltd (“SAR”) for a cash consideration of $16.7 million. Accordingly, the 

effective equity interest in SAR increased from 21% to 51%.

  The carrying amount of the net assets approximates its fair value.  The net assets acquired on the 

above transactions are as follows:

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Net assets acquired:

Non-current assets – 869

Current assets – 10,457

Current liabilities – (6,313)

Net assets – 5,013

Minority interests – 2,605

Goodwill – 17,534

Consideration settled by cash – 25,152

Less: Cash and bank balances acquired – (525)

Net cash outfl ow arising from acquisition – 24,627

  The acquisitions contributed $4.0 million revenue and $900,000 on to the group’s profi t before tax 

for the period between the date of acquisition and the balance sheet date as at December 31, 2006.

  If the acquisitions were completed on January 1, 2006 total group revenue for the year would have 

been $129.9 million and profi t for the year would have been $31.8 million.

36 COMMITMENTS

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Capital expenditure for construction of hydro power plant 31,245 30,968

Commitments in respect of uncalled investment in subsidiaries 11,567   9,671

42,812 40,639
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37 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Payment recognised as an expense during the year:

Minimum lease payments under operating leases 2,739 2,846

 At the balance sheet date, the group has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases 

which fall due as follows:

Group
2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Within one year 311 171

In the second to fi fth years inclusive 392 98

703 269

 Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the group for the rental of offi ce premises. Leases 

are negotiated for term of 1 to 5 years.  

38 RECLASSIFICATION AND COMPARATIVE FIGURES

 Certain reclassifi cations have been made by the management to the prior year’s fi nancial statements to 

provide more information with respect to revenue and other operating income.  As a result, certain line 

items have been amended on the face of the profi t and loss statement and cash fl ow statements, and the 

related notes to the prior year’s fi nancial statements.  

 The items were reclassifi ed as follows:

Group
2006

Previously 
reported   Reclassifi cation

After 
reclassifi cation

$’000 $’000 $’000

Consolidated profi t and loss statement:

 Revenue 121,250 (412) 120,838

 Gross profi t 29,130 (412) 28,718

 Other operating income 13,274 412 13,686

Consolidated cash fl ow statement:

 Operating activities

  Interest income (793) (412) (1,205)

  Net cash from operating activities 28,926 (412) 28,514

 Investing activities

  Interest income received – 412 412

  Net cash used in investing activities (15,618) 412 (15,206)



ASIA POWER CORPORATION LIMITED       Annual Report 2007

90

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007

39 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

 Subsequent to the year end, the company completed a share placement of 40,000,000 new ordinary 

shares in the capital of the company to Renewable Energy Holdings Private Limited at an issue price of 

$0.33 for each placement share.  The share capital will increase from $39,457,000 to $52,657,000.
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In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated fi nancial statements of the group and the balance sheet and 

statement of changes in equity of the company set out on pages 41 to 90 are drawn up so as to give a true and 

fair view of the state of affairs of the group and of the company as at December 31, 2007, and of the results, 

changes in equity and cash fl ows of the group and changes in equity of the company for the fi nancial year then 

ended and at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to 

pay its debts when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Sha Guangwen

Director

Zhao Shuheng

Director

March 18, 2008
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Number of shareholders : 2,898

Class of shares : Ordinary shares 

Voting rights of Ordinary shareholders : Every member of the Company who is present in person or by 

proxy or attorney or in case of a corporation by a representative 

shall have one vote on a show of hands and on a poll every such 

member shall have one vote for every share of which he is the 

holder.

Shareholdings Held in Hands of Public

Based on information available to the Company as at 10 March 2008, approximately 23.5% of the issued ordinary 

shares of the Company is held by the public and therefore Rule 723 of the Listing Manual is complied with.

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Range of Shareholdings No. of Shareholders % No. of Shares %

1 - 999 1 0.03 10 0.00 

1,000 - 10,000 2,258 77.92 9,313,000 2.30 

10,001 - 1,000,000 623 21.50 34,382,000 8.49 

1,000,001 and above 16 0.55 361,315,000 89.21 

2,898 100.00 405,010,010 100.00

TOP 20 SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name No. of Shares %

1 Global Financial Holdings Ltd 84,449,154 20.85 

2 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 69,412,000 17.14 

3 United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 43,930,000 10.85 

4 London Asia Capital (S) Pte Ltd 43,115,347 10.65 

5 Raffl es Nominees Pte Ltd 32,061,000 7.92 

6 Powermatics Investments Limited 19,840,000 4.90 

7 Northeastern Holdings Pte Ltd 18,800,000 4.64 

8 Cheung Kwan 16,808,513 4.15 

9 Asiamatrix Holdings Ltd 15,000,000 3.70 

10 HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 5,124,000 1.27 

11 Shek Hung 3,639,000 0.90 

12 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 2,515,000 0.62 

13 Renewable Energy Holdings Private Limited 2,110,000 0.52 

14 Zheng Hongzhi 1,863,986 0.46 

15 Addyson Xue 1,500,000 0.37 

16 Morph Investments Ltd 1,147,000 0.28 

17 OCBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 992,000 0.24 

18 Kiang Tiang Tan 805,000 0.20 

19 Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd 670,000 0.17 

20 Wang Daxi 666,000 0.16 

364,448,000 89.99
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 

Name
Direct 

Interest
Deemed 
Interest %

1 Global Financial Holdings Ltd 84,449,154 – 20.85%

2 Renewable Energy Holdings Private Limited 58,777,000 – 14.51%

3 London Asia Capital (S) Pte Ltd 43,115,347 – 10.65%

4 Populas Fund 28,605,000 – 7.06%

5 Cheung Kwan 16,808,513 18,800,000 (a) 8.79%

6 China Enersave Limited – 58,777,000 (b) 14.51%

7 Zhang Yan – 84,449,154 (c) 20.85%

8 Shan Baiyu – 84,449,154 (c) 20.85%

Note

(a) Deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Northeastern Holdings Pte Ltd by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, 

Cap. 50

(b) Deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Renewable Energy Holdings Private Limited by virtue of Section 7 of the 

Companies Act, Cap. 50

(c) Deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Global Financial Holdings Ltd by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Cap. 

50
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 11th Annual General Meeting of ASIA POWER CORPORATION LIMITED will 

be held at 65 Chulia Street , The Executives’ Club, OCBC Centre #33-01, Private Room 1, Singapore 049513 on 

21 April 2008 at  3.30pm for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2007 and 

the Reports of the Directors and the Auditors thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To declare a fi rst and fi nal tax exempt dividend of S$0.009 per ordinary share and a special tax exempt 

dividend of S$0.002 per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2007. (Resolution 2)

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$225,000 for the year ended 31 December 2007.

     (Resolution 3)

4. To re-elect Mr Li Tianfei who is retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 91 of the Company’s Articles of 

Association.

 Mr Li Tianfei will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a member of the Audit 

Committee and will be considered non-independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual 

of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. (Resolution 4)

5. To re-elect Mr Zhao Shuheng who is retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 91 of the Company’s Articles of 

Association.   (Resolution 5)

6. To re-elect Mr He Jun who is retiring in accordance with Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association.

 Mr He Jun will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a member of the Audit Committee 

and will be considered independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of Singapore 

Exchange Securities Trading Limited. (Resolution 6)

7. To re-appoint Deloitte & Touche as the Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fi x their 

remuneration.   (Resolution 7)

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fi t, to pass the following ordinary resolutions with or without modifi cations:

8. Authority to allot and issue shares (Resolution 8)

 “That:

 (a) pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and the listing rules of the SGX-ST, 

approval be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to:

  (i) issue shares in the capital of the Company whether by way of rights or otherwise; and/or

  (ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would 

require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as 

adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares; and
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 (b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue 

shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while the authority was in 

force,

  provided that:

  (i) the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including shares to 

be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not 

exceed 50 per cent (50%) (or such other limit as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) of the 

Company’s total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares, of which the aggregate 

number of shares to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders of the Company 

(including shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this 

Resolution) does not exceed 20 per cent (20%) (or such other limit as may be prescribed 

by the SGX-ST) of the Company’s total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares, 

and for the purpose of this Resolution, the total number of issued shares excluding treasury 

shares is based on the Company’s total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares at 

the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for :

   (a) new shares arising upon the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or 

share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the 

time that the Ordinary Resolution is passed; and

   (b) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

  (ii) such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in General Meeting, continue 

in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting or the date by which the 

next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the 

earlier.”

     (See Explanatory Note 1)

9.  Authority to offer and grant options and to allot and issue shares pursuant to the Asia Power Share Option 

Scheme

      (Resolution 9)

 “That the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to offer and grant options in accordance 

with the rules of the Asia Power Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”), and pursuant to Section 161 of 

the Companies Act, Cap. 50 to allot and issue from time to time such number of shares in the Company 

as may be required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of the options in accordance with the rules of 

the Scheme, provided always that the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the Scheme 

shall not exceed fi fteen per cent (15%) of the Company’s total number of issued shares excluding treasury 

Shares from time to time.”

     (See Explanatory Note 2)

10. To transact any other business which may be properly transacted at an Annual General Meeting.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE OF BOOKS CLOSURE

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Share Transfer Books and Register of Members of the Company will be 

closed on 3 May 2008 for the purpose of determining Members’ entitlements to the fi rst and fi nal tax exempt 

dividend of S$0.009 per ordinary share and a special tax exempt dividend of S$0.002 per ordinary share to be 

proposed at the 11th Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 21 April 2008.

Duly completed registrable transfers in respect of the shares in the Company received up to the close of business 

at 5.00 p.m. on 2 May 2008 by the Company’s Share Registrar, M & C Services Pte Ltd, 138 Robinson Road, 

#17-00 The Corporate Offi ce, Singapore 068906 will be registered to determine Members’ entitlements to such 

dividends. Members whose Securities Accounts with The Central Depository (Pte) Ltd are credited with shares in 

the Company as at 5.00 p.m. on 2 May 2008 will be entitled to such proposed dividends.

The proposed dividends, if approved at the 11th Annual General Meeting, will be paid on 23 May 2008.

By Order of the Board

Lee Wei Hsiung

Company Secretary

4 April 2008

Notes:

1. A Member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A 

proxy does not need to be a member of the Company.

2. If the appointer is a corporation, the proxy must be executed under seal or the hand of its duly authorised offi cer or attorney.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Offi ce of the Company at 5 Shenton Way, #25-02 UIC 

Building, Singapore 068808 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the Meeting.

Explanatory Note:

1. The Ordinary Resolution in item no. 8, if passed, is to authorise the Directors of the Company to issue shares and convertible 

securities in the Company provided that the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities to be issued does not exceed 

fi fty per cent (50%) of the Company’s total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares, of which the aggregate number of 

shares and convertible securities to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders of the Company does not exceed 

twenty per cent (20%) of the Company’s total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares for such purposes as they 

consider would be in the interests of the Company. The total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares is based on the 

Company’s total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares at the time this resolution is passed after adjusting for new 

shares arising from the conversion of convertible securities on issue at the time the resolution is passed and any subsequent 

bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of the Company’s shares. This authority will, unless revoked or varied at a general 

meeting, expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next annual general meeting of the 

Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

2. The Ordinary Resolution in item no. 9, if passed, will empower the Directors to issue shares pursuant to the Scheme which was 

approved at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 19 October 1999 of up to an amount not exceeding in total fi fteen per 

cent (15%) of the Company’s total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares from time to time pursuant to the exercise 

of the options under the scheme.
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PROXY FORM

I/We 

of  

being a member/members of ASIA POWER CORPORATION LIMITED, hereby appoint :

Name Address
NRIC / 

Passport No.
Proportion of 

shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address
NRIC / 

Passport No.
Proportion of 

shareholdings (%)

as my/our proxy/proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf and if necessary to demand a poll at the 11th Annual 

General Meeting of the Company to be held at 65 Chulia Street , The Executives’ Club, OCBC Centre #33-01, 

Private Room 1, Singapore 049513 on 21 April 2008 at 3.30pm and at any adjournment thereof.

Please indicate with a cross (x) in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote to be cast for or against the 

Ordinary Resolutions as set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting.  In the absence of specifi c directions, 

your proxy/proxies may vote or abstain as he/they thinks fi t, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the 

Annual General Meeting.

No. Resolutions Relating to For Against

1 Adoption of Reports and Accounts

2 Declaration of Dividends

3 Approval of Directors’ fees

4 Re-election of Mr Li Tianfei (under Article 91)

5 Re-election of Mr Zhao Shuheng (under Article 91)

6 Re-election of Mr He Jun (under Article 97)

7 Re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche as the Company’s auditors and authorise the 

Directors to fi x their remuneration.

8 Authorisation to Directors to issue shares pursuant to Section 161 of the 

Companies Act (Cap 50)

9 Authorisation to Directors to offer and grant options, and to allot and issue shares 

pursuant to the Asia Power Share Option Scheme. 

Dated this  day of  2008

 

Signature (s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

IMPORTANT.

1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to 

buy Asia Power Corporation Limited shares, this 

Notice of AGM is forwarded to them at the request 

of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent solely 

FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF 

investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and 

purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

Total number of Shares Held



IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES BELOW

Notes:-

1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend 

and vote in his stead. Such proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2. Where a member of the Company appoints two proxies, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the 

whole) to be represented by each such proxy.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing.  Where the 

instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed under its common seal or under the hand of its 

attorney or duly authorised offi cer.

4. A corporation which is a member of the Company may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fi t 

to act as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with its Articles of Association and Section 179 of the Companies Act, 

Chapter 50 of Singapore.

5. The instrument appointing proxy or proxies, together with the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed, or notarially 

certifi ed copy thereof, must be deposited at the registered offi ce of the Company at 5 Shenton Way, #25-02 UIC Building, Singapore 068808 not 

later than 48 hours before the time set for the Annual General Meeting.

6. A member should insert the total number of shares held.  If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register (as 

defi ned in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), he should insert that number of shares.  If the member has shares 

registered in his name in the Register of Members of the Company, he should insert the number of shares.  If the member has shares entered 

against his name in the Depository Register and shares registered in his name in the Register of Members of the Company, he should insert the 

aggregate number of shares.  If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all the shares held by the member of the 

Company.

7. The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or 

where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specifi ed in the instrument appointing a 

proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of members of the Company whose shares are entered against their names in the Depository Register, 

the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if such members are not shown to have shares entered against 

their names in the Depository Register 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting as certifi ed by The Central 

Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

8. A Depositor shall not be regarded as a member of the Company entitled to attend the Annual General Meeting and to speak and vote thereat 

unless his name appears on the Depository Register 48 hours before the time set for the Annual General Meeting.



Te
l: (

65
) 6

32
78

39
8

ASIA POWER CORPORATION LIMITED 

(Co. Reg. No. 199701487C)
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